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Report of the
Supervisory
Board
To the shareholders

awarded a comprehensive unqualified audit

In 2015, Nedap grew its revenue on several

certificate, which is specific to Nedap and is

markets. Investments in a varied range of market

included in the report under Other information.

propositions over the past few years have produced

A delegation from our Supervisory Board

several commercial successes. A strong finish saw

has discussed the audit in depth with KPMG

revenue rise 2% overall in 2015, compared with

Accountants, the Board of Directors, and Group

revenue posted for 2014.

Controlling. PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants
N.V. also sat in on these meetings, as they will

However, during the financial year the Board of

take over as Nedap’s audit partner from the 2016

Directors also made a decision that spells out a

financial year.

drastic change to the company. Over the next two

With the Board of Directors and the auditor, we

years, a significant part of Nedap’s production and

discussed the auditors’ report and the 2015

logistics operations will be outsourced and in-

annual report, which is made up of the Report of

house production capacity will be gradually wound

the Board of Directors, the Financial Statements,

down. As part of this outsourcing drive, we have

Other information, Miscellaneous and Corporate

taken a close look at each product’s market impact,

Governance. Aside from that, we also spoke to the

and will continue to do so. Based on the outcome of

auditor without the Board of Directors present. No

this scrutiny, products will either be outsourced or

further particulars emerged from this meeting.

phased out.
This shift will intensify our focus on our higher-

In meetings with the Board of Directors, we

added-value operations, produce structural cost

subjected the financial reports, along with the

savings and increase flexibility. Exceptional costs

corresponding explanatory notes, as received from

relating to this restructuring of the supply chain put

the Board of Directors on a regular basis (10 times a

pressure on profits for 2015. Profit after taxation,

year), to close scrutiny. We have also had meetings

excluding exceptional items, was up 29% in 2015.

with managers, controllers and others at the various
business units to examine the current situation at

Following the shareholders’ meeting of 2 April

their respective business units in depth.

2015, Mr Gerard J. M. Ezendam stood down as

Based on the information we have gathered, we

(financial) director under the articles of association,

are confident that the 2015 report provides a solid

a position that he has fulfilled with great dedication

foundation for our accountability vis-à-vis our

since his appointment in 2009. His vast and

supervision of the Board of Directors’ management

thorough expertise on financial reporting and

of the company.

regulations helped him to secure the solid financial

We therefore recommend that you adopt the 2015

foundation that will enable Nedap to sustain its

financial statements as presented.

business, including during tough economic periods.
Our gratitude to him is boundless. We have found

Dividend

an excellent successor in Mr Eric Urff, who was

Nedap’s revenue was up 2% in 2015, rising from

appointed Nedap’s (financial) director under the

€177.2 million to €180.9 million.

articles of association on the aforementioned date.

Profit after exceptional items came in at €4.7
million (€17.9 million in 2014), resulting in

4

Financial statements

earnings per share of €0.70, compared with €2.67

The financial statements were audited by KPMG

in 2014.

Accountants N.V. and, like in previous years,

Nedap’s dividend policy ensues from the

company’s strategy and long-term policy. Profits

general and that of the business units in particular,

are paid out to shareholders in their entirety,

as well as progress made with these strategies.

after deduction of the transfer to reserves that

Business unit managers presented and further

is deemed necessary to secure the continuity of

explained the strategy of their respective business

Nedap’s autonomous growth. Apart from that, the

units, highlighting their business unit’s market

company pursues maximum consistency in paying

focus and the underlying reasoning, associated

dividend.

challenges and risks, and their growth strategy

Given the fact that profit after taxation was

with an appropriate organisational set-up. These

significantly affected by exceptional costs relating

presentations provided us with a good picture of

to the supply chain reorganisation, the Board of

the different markets, the competitive position

Directors and the Supervisory Board have decided

of the various business units, the development

to base dividend payable for 2015 on profit after

of the organisation, the strategic objectives

taxation without factoring in these exceptional

and the related preconditions, as well as of the

costs. In accordance with Article 45 paragraph 1 of

opportunities and risks for individual business units

the articles of association, a decision has therefore

and Nedap as a whole. Nedap’s operational and

been made to withdraw €3.9 million from the

financial targets were discussed in this context.

Other reserves, putting the total amount available

Over the past year, risks and risk management were

for dividend at €8.6 million. Dividend payable

covered in discussions on the various agenda items.

per share is therefore €1.28 (€1.25 in 2014). The

Progress with the further professionalisation of risk

solvency ratio (shareholders’ equity excluding

management and verifiable continued efforts to

payable dividends and minority interest divided

bolster our in-control state were also on the agenda

by the balance sheet total) consequently dropped

in 2015, and will continue to be focus points over

from 42.9% at the end of 2014 to 40.0% at the

the next few years.

end of 2015.

Partly in this context, we discussed the set-up
and operation of the internal control system with

Meetings and activities

the Board of Directors and the auditor. Significant

The Supervisory Board met five times during the

changes to this system are not expected.

financial year. All of these meetings, bar one, were
attended by all Supervisory Board members. Like

As in previous years, we agreed with the Board

in previous years, Supervisory Board members also

of Directors that, given Nedap’s limited size and

liaised over the telephone, both with each other

organisational model, there is no need to appoint

and with the Board of Directors. Throughout the

an internal auditor. The Board of Directors and

financial year, several additional meetings were

business units are in close contact with the group

held to discuss a range of different issues, such as

companies in the Netherlands and abroad, almost

the decision to reorganise the supply chain and

all of which are managed from the business units

the progress of that process, as well as the current

in the Dutch town of Groenlo and are often led by

situation at various business units, including Energy

employees of the parent company, Nedap N.V. The

Systems and Light Controls. Delegations from our

Controlling group in Groenlo also takes care of risk

Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors also

monitoring for these companies. Almost all group

met on several occasions.

companies use the same IT infrastructure as Nedap
N.V., thus ensuring a high degree of transparency.
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In addition to these specific items, particular

Aside from financial reports, strategy and risk

attention was paid to the company’s strategy in

management, we looked at various commonly
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reviewed items during the financial year, such as

and us are transparent and critical, and the mutual

the budget for 2016, the organisational structure

working relationship is a good one. Our conclusion

and corporate governance. In meetings with the

is that the Supervisory Board and the Board of

Board of Directors, we discussed the need for

Directors have performed well, both individually

a code of conduct and a whistleblower policy

and collectively.

at Nedap, which ultimately led to a decision to
implement both.

As in previous years, we also had informal talks,

Together with the Board of Directors, we

either individually or as a delegation, with relevant

furthermore evaluated our auditing partner, the

Nedap employees to discuss items outside

auditor and our working relationship with them,

formal meetings. Informal contacts between the

focusing also on ensuring a smooth transition to

Supervisory Board and business unit managers and

PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. as of

controllers to discuss financial performance, market

the next financial year. We believe that the auditor

trends and opportunities, the competitive position,

provided us with all the information we needed to

staffing issues, the medium-term vision, risks and

be able to adequately carry out our supervisory

action points continued intensively throughout

duties. The auditor found no irregularities in the

the reporting period. Besides our specialist focus

reporting.

areas, each Supervisory Board member has now

We have evaluated the auditor’s independence and

also been assigned business units to include in

come to the conclusion that it is not compromised.

their supervision focus area. This is in line with the

KPMG Accountants performs no work for Nedap

preferred proactive approach of the Supervisory

other than its auditing activities.

Board, both collectively and individually. We inform

We considered and discussed Nedap’s corporate

the other Supervisory Board members of our

social responsibility policy on several occasions,

findings. These talks with employees of Nedap and

specifically because it is in Nedap’s DNA. The Board

its subsidiaries and with the Works Council enable

of Directors bears ultimate responsibility for this

us to continue to deepen our connection with and

policy. Nedap’s products and services provide

insight into developments at Nedap.

solutions to socially relevant problems and our
aforementioned policy, which we wholly endorse,

Our evaluation has shown that we were able to

has not been changed.

make enough time, both individually and as a
group, to give due attention to developments at

We have held meetings, some of which were not

Nedap. There is a good distribution of focus areas

attended by the Board of Directors, to discuss our

and we complement each other sufficiently in our

own performance and that of the Board of Directors,

advisory role to the company.

both collectively and individually, and the variable
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remuneration to be awarded to the Board of

Partly given our proactive way of working and the

Directors. We have conducted a self-evaluation

aforementioned spread of focus areas, we stand by

of our collective and individual performance and

our view that setting up formal committees within

we have also discussed the performance of the

the Supervisory Board is not required and not

Board of Directors with the Works Council and

desirable at this point in time, also given Nedap’s

business unit managers, at a meeting which was not

and the Supervisory Board’s limited size. As a

attended by the Board of Directors. Discussions on

whole, the Board will continue to be responsible

performance were open and critical.

for correct execution of the tasks of the audit,

Communications between the Board of Directors

remuneration and selection and appointment

committee. Any decisions are made jointly by the

described in the Corporate Governance section of

full Supervisory Board.

this report. The remuneration structure is set out in
the financial statements under ‘Board of Directors’

Our chairman regularly meets with the managing

remuneration’.

director to discuss current affairs at Nedap and any
other issues. Any bilateral contacts between the

The targets for the variable part of directors’

Board of Directors and shareholders as part of the

remuneration were determined during the financial

appropriate policy are discussed with our chairman.

year. The Board of Directors invests a minimum

The Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board

of 50% of its variable remuneration in the

are committed to maintaining good relations with

Nedap employee participation plan, and thus in

our shareholders. Both Nedap and the shareholders

depositary receipts for shares that are locked up

may initiate contacts. Such talks are always based

for a period of four years. As a result, at least 50%

on information that has already been published.

of variable remuneration is of a long-term nature.

A bilateral discussion potentially provides a

Since the creation of the employee participation

more complete picture of developments at

plan, members of the Board of Directors under the

Nedap. In talks with shareholders, the company is

articles of association have invested all of their

represented by a member of the Board of Directors.

variable remuneration in the plan.
After assessment of the degree to which the

Composition of the Supervisory Board

members of the Board of Directors have hit their

At the general meeting of shareholders of 31

targets, we concluded that, despite their best

March 2016, a proposal will be submitted to (re)

efforts, not all objectives were achieved. Based

appoint Mr G. F. Kolff, the current chairman of the

on this conclusion and in compliance with the

Supervisory Board, to the Supervisory Board for

stipulations of the ‘Remuneration policy for the

a period of four years. The Works Council, which

Board of Directors under the articles of association,’

has a right of recommendation in filling this

we put variable remuneration for the members of

vacancy, endorses the nomination of Foeke Kolff

the Board of Directors at 40% of their fixed annual

for reappointment and has not put forward its own

pay.

candidate.

In setting the overall remuneration, we analysed
various scenarios and took into account such

We believe the Supervisory Board has a good

factors as the development of revenue and profits,

balance of skills, relevant knowledge and

the advancement of Nedap’s interests in the

experience and can fulfil its statutory duty to

medium and long term and the need to ensure a

supervise and advise the Board of Directors

balanced remuneration structure at Nedap.

in an effective manner. All members of the
Supervisory Board meet the requirements of the

Supervisory Board members

Corporate Governance Code with respect to their

Remuneration of the members of the Supervisory

independence (best practice provision III.2.1) and

Board has not changed and is set out in the

expertise.

financial statements under ‘Supervisory Board
remuneration’.

Remuneration
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Board of Directors

Finally, we would like to express our appreciation

The details of the remuneration policy for the Board

to the Board of Directors and employees for their

of Directors under the articles of association are

dedication, effort and loyalty throughout the past
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year. We realise that the process of reorganising
the supply chain is very demanding on employees,
especially on those who will be made redundant.
During this financial year, we are once again relying
on everyone’s unwavering effort and great vigour in
seizing growth opportunities.
We would also like to thank our shareholders
and customers for their interest in Nedap and for
placing their trust in our company.
Groenlo, Netherlands, 11 February 2016
The Supervisory Board:
G. F. Kolff, chairman
M. C. Westermann, vice-chairman
D. W. J. Theyse
J. M. L. van Engelen
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Supervisory Board profile

Supervisory Board member details

Nedap is a medium-sized enterprise with a long-

At 11 February 2016

term policy that is targeted at creating sustainable
added value for customers, employees and

Mr G. F. Kolff (67), chairman, male

shareholders. It wants to achieve this through

Wide-ranging management experience, extensive

autonomous growth in revenue and profits, with

expertise in the area of engineering, financial

diversification and innovation, based on the

acumen, ability to exploit technology to create

company’s expertise, playing a central role.

solutions and business opportunities, experience
with and understanding of Nedap’s ‘added-value

In supervising the Board of Directors, the

model’, and solid communication skills.

Supervisory Board must always factor in these
basic principles. They must also make themselves

Nationality

available to the Board of Directors in an advisory

Profession/most recent

role.

primary position

This requires a balanced Supervisory Board, where

Relevant additional positions

: Dutch

: Managing director of

		 Shtandart TT B.V.
: none

management experience and broad expertise in

First appointment

: 17 April 2012

the areas of finance, engineering and industrial

Current term

: 2012-2016

marketing are coupled with affinity for and a strong

Supervisory Board memberships : Paques Holding B.V. (chairman)

sense of:

		 Smits Bouwgroep B.V. (SBB)

–

entrepreneurship;

Mr M. C. Westermann (63) MBA, vice-chairman,

–

hands-on management in a “flat” organisation

male

that is based on distinctive strengths;

Broad management experience, entrepreneurship,

an organisation where sales, development and

commercial focus, extensive expertise in the area of

manufacturing work together as a well-oiled

IT, an eye for innovation.

–

unit;
–

a responsibility-driven way of working;

Nationality

: Dutch

–

the creative process of innovation;

Profession/primary position

: Director at Motekforce Link B.V.

–

development in society.

Relevant additional positions

: none

First appointment

: 12 May 2009

By and large, the Supervisory Board is required

Current term

: 2013-2017

to adopt a critical attitude towards the Board

Supervisory Board memberships : Triple-P

of Directors. Its members must be independent

		 Barenbrug Holland BV

from the company and each other, and possess
complementary qualities. The aim is for the
composition of the Supervisory Board to reflect the
society in which Nedap operates.
The Supervisory Board will never have more than
five members.
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Ms D. W. J. Theyse (47), female
Comprehensive financial knowledge, management
experience and practical knowledge and
experience with listed companies and other large
legal entities.
Nationality

: Dutch

Profession/primary position

: Managing director of Aevitas

		 Property Partners
Relevant additional positions

: none

First appointment

: 29 April 2010

Current term

: 2014-2018

Supervisory Board memberships : none

Prof. Dr J. M. L. van Engelen (56), male
Wide-ranging management experience, broad
expertise in the area of industrial product
development, marketing and product strategy,
financial acumen, as well as extensive contacts at
knowledge institutes.
Nationality

: Dutch

Profession/primary position

: Professor of Design

		 Engineering,
		 Faculty of Industrial Design
		 Engineering,
		 Delft University of Technology
Relevant additional positions

: Professor of Business

		 Administration, Faculty of
		 Economics and Business,
		 University of Groningen
First appointment

: 16 april 2013

Current term

: 2013-2017

Supervisory Board memberships : Unigarant N.V./UVM
		 Verzekeringsmaatschappij N.V.
		 Reis- en Rechtshulp N.V.
		 Member of the Supervisory
		 Board of the Open University
		 of the Netherlands
		 Member of the Supervisory
		 Board of Pensioenfonds Zorg en
		 Welzijn (pension fund for the
		 healthcare and social welfare

11

		 sectors)
		 Member of the Supervisory
		 Board of CentER data,
		 Tilburg University
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2015 in a nutshell

in 2014), while dividends for 2015 have been set

A strong finish to the financial year saw revenue

at €1.28 per share (€1.25 per share in 2014). The

increase further in 2015. Profit after taxation,

solvency ratio (shareholders’ equity excluding

excluding exceptional items, was up considerably

payable dividends and minority interest divided

on 2014. In June, the announcement came that

by the balance sheet total) was down in 2015,

Nedap intends to outsource a large part of its

dropping from 42.9% to 40.0%.

product manufacturing to specialist partners, so
as to be able to fully focus on the development

Management and supervision

and marketing of high-profile propositions and the

Following the shareholders’ meeting of 2 April

creation of impact on its target markets. As a result

2015, Mr Eric Urff was appointed the company’s

of exceptional costs relating to this supply chain

director under the articles of association. At the

reorganisation, profits were ultimately significantly

same time, Mr Gerard Ezendam stood down as a

lower than in the previous year.

member of the Board of Directors, and has since
taken on another role at the company. We owe

Overall revenue was up 2%, rising from €177.2

him a great debt of gratitude for his work as our

million in 2014 to €180.9 million in 2015.

company’s financial director over the past six years.

The Healthcare, Identification Systems, Library

With his pragmatic approach and sound knowledge

Solutions, Retail and Security Management business

of financial reporting and regulations, he played a

units and the Nsecure subsidiary all contributed

key role in Nedap’s development.

towards this growth, while the Energy Systems,
Light Controls and Livestock Management units all

Market and strategy

posted lower revenue than in the previous year.

To secure our company’s continuity and achieve

Recognised as a percentage of revenue, the added

sustained success, it is essential that we have a

value dropped to 68.7% (70.0% in 2014).

long-term vision, one that is powerful and full
of perspective to enable us to achieve long-

Operating profit excluding exceptional items came

term effectiveness, and to prevent our company

in at €12.6 million (€12.4 million in 2014). Profit

continuously jumping on market, technology and

after taxation, excluding exceptional items, also

social bandwagons. This vision must also allow

totalled €12.6 million in 2015, representing a 29%

employees sufficient opportunity to realise their

rise on the previous year.

ambitions and display personal entrepreneurship.

The supply chain reorganisation incurred one-off

At the same time, a company also needs to be alert

exceptional costs amounting to €9.2 million in

to when it is time to change course and formulate

2015, primarily due to costs arising from the Social

a new vision. Such a new vision can then build on

Plan and non-cash impairment of assets. Despite

the strengths of previous perspectives, while also

only having a minor impact on cash flow in the

incorporating those essential changes that ensure

financial year, these items significantly affected

that the company can continue to successfully

profits and the balance sheet, putting profit after

develop further over the coming years.

taxation at €4.7 million, a major drop on the 2014

Nedap, too, is a company that has seen various

figure of €17.9 million. Exceptional items totalling

instances in its history where it has fundamentally

€8.6 million impacted on profits in 2014.

changed course. One such change took place in the
1970s. Investments in its in-house development

Earnings per share came in at €0.70 in 2015 (€2.67
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capability transformed Nedap from a factory into

a company that could develop and manufacture

We have also made some clear choices when it

products on demand. Smart design enabled Nedap

comes to our operations. We are seeing that the

to lower the cost price of its products and defy the

greatest value adding potential lies in developing

emergence of low-wage countries.

and marketing propositions. This is all about
creativity, smartness and agility, and not about

Another important step was the introduction

scale. On the other hand, we are also seeing that

of business units in the mid-1990s: small units

scale and efficiency are the most important factors

with their own design and sales teams that target

in manufacturing products and the associated

specific markets. It was a move that brought more

logistics. This consideration was decisive in coming

entrepreneurship and more intensive customer

to the decision in 2015 to largely wind down

contacts, while also contributing to the shift in our

production and logistics activities, and to outsource

differentiating quality from delivering technological

them to a limited number of specialist partners

ingenuity to solving actual problems.

over a period of just over two years. This will lower
our products’ cost price in the long term. Aside from

In the current transitional phase, the emphasis is

that, teaming up with partners all over the world

on seizing and expanding strong market positions,

enables us to have our products manufactured

since getting market positioning right is ultimately

closer to our international customers, hence cutting

the decisive factor in market activation, as well

transport costs and delivery times, and bolstering

as for long-term success. This calls for clear

our competitive strength.  

choices, such as of the markets on which we
want to operate. They have to be markets that

Our broad portfolio of operations is a key part of

offer great potential, and at the same time, there

Nedap’s robustness. Having different operations

have to be real prospects of market leadership

in a wide range of fields makes us less sensitive

in the long term. We continuously track the level

to economic fluctuations and less dependent on

of attractiveness of existing and new markets,

developments on individual markets. Plus, we

assessing whether the targeted market position is

combine this with smart sharing of knowledge on

still sufficiently attractive and feasible. Whenever

technology, business models and processes across

it is deemed necessary, we exit markets, enter new

the business units, which gives us great ability to

ones, or change our market positioning.

take action. Through our strategic choices, Nedap
is increasingly pointedly focusing on building and

We are devoting more and more time and attention

expanding leading positions on the markets on

to market analyses and meticulous mapping of

which we operate. The effects of these decisions

customer segments. Our development efforts have

are meanwhile starting to show on several markets.

consequently become market-driven and much

We are confident that the market impact of our

more relevant to larger customer groups than

operations will be amplified by the changes we

they used to be, boosting return on investments

have made and are about to make, and that this will

in proposition development and bringing greater

translate into improved financial results.

market impact. We have also stepped up efforts

13

to downsize our product portfolio. A small section

Employees and organisation

of our products produces the lion’s share of our

Entrepreneurship and personal responsibility

revenue and margins. Making clear choices here

play a key part in our corporate culture. Our flat

will enable us to devote more time and attention to

organisational structure and clear market focus at

those products that really make a difference.

the various business units enables quick decision-

Report of the Board of
Directors

making, based on detailed market knowledge. Time

wide-ranging expertise. Apart from that, they need

and time again, Nedap therefore manages to quickly

in-depth technological understanding in order to be

convert new technological and market insights into

able to fully grasp and appreciate contributions by

attractive and powerful propositions. The ability

these external parties. Still, this is not a one-size-

to instantly respond to new insights and draw

fits-all approach to development. At the start of a

on practical experiences in producing improved

development process, for example, it is far more

versions of solutions gives us an important

convenient to have the required knowledge and

competitive edge. This way of working is particularly

skills available in-house to be able to quickly put

effective in the early stages of a proposition, when

the first prototype together.

it does not yet have the power to really move the
market.

Each of the above working methods has its pros
and cons. The challenge for Nedap is not to choose

Experience has taught us that after initial

one, but to unite these different methods in a single

commercial successes, the market starts to make

organisation and choose the best approach for

other demands on a company. To become a market

each process. We can only do that if our employees

leader, we will inevitably have to rein in our

understand the implications of the various working

organisation and adopt a more structured approach

methods and know when to use which procedure.

to matters such as processes, working methods and

Over the coming years, a lot of time and attention

exceptions. By recording processes, standardising

will go into amassing knowledge and understanding

working methods and curtailing exceptions,

of working methods and learning to use the right

we can increase scalability and flexibility. As a

approach at the right time, which will also require

result, revenue growth will not automatically spur

flexibility from our employees. But it will ultimately

workforce growth at the same rate. However, the

be a crucial part of our competitive strength.

flip side is that it may reduce our innovation scope,
which would undermine competitiveness in the

The decision to phase out and outsource most of

long term.

our production operations was a critical one that

Besides day-to-day operations, the company

will prompt major organisational changes over the

also has project-based activities. One example is

coming years. Given the impact on our company

the (partial) outsourcing of production activities.

and our staff, we have tried to be as diligent as

While daily orders still have to be fulfilled on time

possible in our considerations. In close consultation

as always, projects are launched for each of our

with the works council and trade unions, we have

product lines to move manufacturing capability

compiled a Social Plan that is worthy of Nedap and

to one of our production partners. The success of

runs through to the end of 2017. Although the first

these projects hinges on skills that differ greatly

effects of the reorganisation on staffing levels will

from those used in our day-to-day activities.

not materialise until mid-2016, we still chose to
provide full disclosure to employees several months

We are also foreseeing major changes to how we

ago, informing them of their redundancy and the

work when it comes to new product development.

fact that their employment will be terminated in the

We are increasingly drawing on external knowledge

long term.

and expertise in sub-areas, which makes different
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demands on Nedap developers. They can now

The supply chain reorganisation will make great

devote more of their time to building and

demands on Nedap as a company. Alongside those

maintaining a close-knit network of developers with

needed for our current production processes,

additional efforts will be required to provide all

development. As part of the Support Excellence

the production documentation required to make

initiative, the first 24x7 globally operating support

outsourcing possible. So as to prevent the entire

desk was launched. A key step was also made in

organisation working on this and becoming too

strengthening and expanding channel partner

inward-looking, a separate project team has been

programmes. As part of Marketing Excellence,

set up to unburden the business units as much as

hard work has gone into intensifying external

possible in externalising the various product lines.

communications and social media presence and

We are also focusing additional attention on Sales

engagement.

Excellence. Projects are being launched at every
business unit to strengthen commercial processes.

At the end of 2015, Nedap had a workforce of

Special attention in this respect goes to subjects

765, 4 more than the 761 employees at the end of

such as lead generation, sales management and

2014. During the financial year, Nedap employed

customer development.

an average of 763 people (757 in 2014) with an
average age of 42.1 (41.8 in 2014). The sickness

Over the past few years, our Road to Excellence

absence rate - excluding maternity leave - stood

programme has seen us make progress on

at 2.8% in the financial year (2.7% in 2014). The

several strategic targets. Extensive experience

added value per employee totalled €163,000

was gained, for example, in successfully running

(€164,000 in 2014).

projects. In 2015, special attention was focused on
professionalising our project management skills.

The works council was involved in the decision-

Following on from that, new initiatives are being

making process regarding production outsourcing

launched targeting a range of different sub-areas.

from an early stage. As an equal consultation

Optimisation of operational processes at the

partner, the works council managed to strike a

business units turned out to be good preparation

balance between the interests of the employee

for production outsourcing. These best practices

and those of the company in its advice. A particular

were exploited in processes such as the transfer of

focus on open and transparent communications has

logistics operations from the Retail business unit to

greatly helped to limit uncertainty and unrest across

an external service provider.

the company. We are aware of the fact that this
decision-making process has been very taxing on

As part of our People Excellence programme, the

the works council, and we therefore want to thank

Nedap Leadership Survey was used to bolster

the members for their additional efforts and for

leadership, while in November 2015, the first class

displaying a great sense of responsibility.

of students started a software development course
at Nedap University. With this exclusive work-

Nedap’s competitiveness hinges greatly on the

study programme, Nedap has created a new way of

talent and creativity of its employees. With this

recruiting and training scarce software talent.

in mind, we put a lot of effort into making Nedap
an attractive place to work for potential new
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The Development Excellence programme saw us

employees. We are receiving more unsolicited

organise a User Experience Workshop spanning

job applications and the vacancy response rate is

several days, which provided a key impetus to

up, while at the same time we have increased the

market-driven proposition development. A lot of

requirements potential employees have to meet.

work has also been put into sharing experiences

Candidates who meet these requirements are still

relating to structured and systematic proposition

hard to come by. If we were to perform an additional

Report of the Board of
Directors

selection in terms of gender or ethnicity in order

Nedap shares, representing approx. 1.5% of the

to meet a statutory ratio, we would be left with

total issued share capital. The expectation is that

insufficient qualified candidates. Nedap therefore

the Stichting will eventually build up a holding

does not meet the target ratio of at least 30%

representing several percentages of the company’s

women in executive positions as required by the

total share capital.

law on balanced participation of men and women
in executive and non-executive positions that took

Business units

effect on 1 January 2013. Despite additional efforts

Energy Systems

in this area, this situation is not expected to change

The European distributed electricity storage market

in the short term.

showed limited growth in 2015, while more and
more players launched energy storage solutions,

On 1 April 2015, Nedap signed a new one-year

leading to market fragmentation and increasingly

collective labour agreement with the trade unions,

competitive prices. As a result, the Energy Systems

agreeing a 1.75% salary increase.

business unit (systems for the independent and
effective generation, storage and consumption of

Under the Nedap employee participation plan,

electricity) posted reduced revenue in 2015.

employees can use part or all of their annual
share in the profits to purchase Nedap depositary

Sustainable energy production involves energy

receipts. These depositary receipts are locked up

sources with a highly variable output, such as sun

for four years after purchase. In addition to a 10%

and wind. Balancing out the peaks and troughs

discount on the purchase price of the depositary

with traditional sources such as coal and gas-fired

receipt, one bonus depositary receipt is awarded,

power stations is very expensive. Local energy

subject to conditions, after four years for every four

storage therefore has many benefits and is also

depositary receipts. The holder of the depositary

becoming increasingly attractive in financial terms,

receipt is immediately entitled to the full dividend

given that the price of battery systems is dropping.

per share. Like in the previous year, 56% of

Distributed energy storage services are thus

employees made use of this plan in 2015 and

expected to perform very well in the long term.

invested in Nedap depositary receipts.
However, the outlook for the next few years is less
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There is also the Nedap Additional Participation

positive. The energy market is facing a complex

Plan (NAPP), which is intended to give employees

system of legislation, regulations and subsidy

an additional share of the profits whenever profits

programmes, while there is much uncertainty on

grow by over 5% a year, whereby the 2012

the market due to the unpredictability of measures

profit before taxation (€16.3 million) is taken

taken at various levels of government. This affects

as the reference point. In 2015, profits - before

customers’ willingness to invest and the market’s

exceptional income and costs - totalled €13.2

development. Several major players have also

million (€12.4 million in 2014), staying below the

announced their intention to enter the market,

threshold value for 2015 of €18.9 million. A profit

creating additional competition which, in addition

share under the NAPP will therefore not be awarded

to the expected increase in price erosion, will

for 2015.

significantly impact on this market’s profit potential.

At the end of the financial year, Stichting

Since this market will be of less commercial interest

Medewerkerparticipatie Nedap held 96,714

in the years to come, a decision was made at the

end of 2015 to further downscale the business

accidental double dosing of medication.

unit’s activities. Nedap will continue to meet
maintenance and warranty obligations, but will

New European legislation and regulations are

not launch any new products for the time being.

considerably stricter when it comes to privacy

Several employees will be transferred to other

requirements for healthcare information systems.

business units over the course of 2016. If market

Personal data of individual patients and employees

conditions show a structural improvement, Nedap

must now be disclosed or verifiably deleted from

can consider expanding these activities again. In

such systems when requested by a patient or

light of the current market outlook and the decision

employee. Another requirement is full transparency

to downscale activities, the business unit expects

on who has had access to individual data and

revenue in 2016 to be lower.

when. This necessitates a different set-up of
the underlying databases. Nedap has adapted

Healthcare

its software accordingly and actively helped

The Healthcare business unit (automation of tasks

healthcare providers in assimilating this change by

for healthcare professionals) achieved a sound

organising information sessions for them. Further

increase in revenue once again in 2015. It is very

assistance was provided in the form of tutorials for

satisfactory to see healthcare institutions switching

employees and sample agreements, as well as work

to the business unit’s software services even faster

instructions on how to collect personal data. Nedap

than before.

customers have thus been able to get ready for new
privacy laws on time.

Cutbacks in the healthcare sector have led to a
reduction in the amount of healthcare indicated

The business unit expects to increase its share in

and supplied. This puts pressure on the income

the elderly care market in 2016 and has already

of healthcare institutions so they are constantly

managed to win over the first customers on the

looking for ways to cut costs. For instance, more

adjacent mentally handicapped and mental

and more institutions are reducing the number of

healthcare markets with the strength of Nedap’s

administrative systems they use and switching to

approach. The functionality of Nedap’s solutions

a single system that provides end-to-end support

will be expanded over the next few years in order

for the entire healthcare process and reduces the

to be able to support more work processes in this

complexity of administrative processes. Nedap

segment of the healthcare market. Since all three

is increasingly the partner of choice for such

healthcare sectors have significant opportunities

products.

for growth, the business unit expects to be able to
continue its increase in revenue.

Nedap invests heavily in features that enable
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customers to submit accurate expense claims to

Growth on the temporary employment market has

get their healthcare costs reimbursed. In doing so,

resulted in more timesheets being processed using

this business unit plays a key role in ensuring the

Pep® (digitised timesheet processing and work

continuity of healthcare institutions. A recently

schedules) and in increased revenue in 2015. This

added feature for mobile devices enables secure

solution’s increasing number of users includes

communications between colleagues, consultation

several temporary employment organisations who

of schedules and access to and reporting on

are opting to switch entirely to Pep, meaning that

patient files. Our Healthcare business unit has also

all of their timesheets are processed using this

developed a double dose detection app to prevent

software service.
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Nedap is the only provider to offer a platform

improved, giving partners a better idea of when to

with registration and scheduling functionality for

use which Nedap product. The partner programme

both permanent employees and flexible workers.

has been further extended with technical and

Marketing a standard solution as opposed to

commercial training courses, while certification

developing customised ones for specific customers

procedures have been professionalised,

is a conscious choice, as it will allow us to focus

strengthening ties between Nedap and its partners,

development efforts on amplifying functionality

and raising the quality of solutions offered. Great

and on innovations for things such as employee

progress has also been made when it comes

scheduling. Given that employees and temps can

to marketing. Increasing numbers of potential

register their availability in the system themselves,

customers are now considering opting for this

it is extremely easy for HR staff to produce

business unit’s products.

accurate work schedules. Although cases where
a company still wants a customised solution, and

With the launch of the TRANSIT Ultimate, a new

consequently selects a different package, do still

generation of long-range readers has hit the market.

occur incidentally, strategic benefits are convincing

Apart from incorporating the latest generation

increasing numbers of companies of the power of

of electronic components, this reader offers new

the Nedap approach.

possibilities, such as two-way communication
support between the reader and the tag in

Since the Dutch labour market is becoming

the vehicle, enabling higher levels of security.

increasingly flexible, the need for Pep is growing,

Aside from that, it is now also possible to write

and this includes organisations hiring temporary

information to the access badge in the car and load

staff. As these organisations then ask their

new access privileges.

supplying agencies to also start using it, Pep
usage is spreading like wildfire. The increase in

The number of SENSIT projects sold increased once

the number of organisations using Pep and the

again in the 2015 financial year. By combining

forecast growth in the number of hours worked

wireless sensors with software services, the

through temporary employment agencies in the

business unit is able to give government and

Netherlands will help this business unit to post

commercial organisations a clear, user-friendly

even higher revenue.

picture of parking space usage. This is an
innovation that makes directing motorists to

Identification Systems

available parking spaces a whole lot easier, while

The Identification Systems business unit (vehicle

also supporting parking enforcement and giving

and driver identification products and wireless

local authorities usage information relating to

parking systems) achieved sound growth in revenue

public parking spaces. A steady rise in the number

in 2015, with all four of the unit’s propositions —

of positive customer testimonials is making the

vehicle identification, people identification, vehicle

business case an increasingly strong one. SENSIT’s

detection and city access control — contributing

reputation as the most reliable vehicle detection

towards the result. Growth was achieved in almost

platform on the market is also continuing to grow.

all regions all over the world, particularly in North
America and the Middle East.

The new ROI calculator makes it easy for local
authorities and institutions to calculate their
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The mutual positioning of the various products

return on an investment in SENSIT and work out

from the long-range reader portfolio has been

their own business case. After extensive testing

and validation by independent parties in the

integrate them into one access system, the new

Netherlands, this calculator was also rolled out

powerful standard RFID gate for a range of different

internationally.

set-ups empowers partners to simplify and speed
up their projects. Our partners are managing to land

The business unit will continue to reinforce and

more and more contracts thanks to constant efforts

expand its four propositions in 2016, with attractive

to guarantee ease of integration and reduced

product launches in the pipeline that will make

complexity, and ensure our products remain solid.

its services even more relevant to customers. The

Uncomplicated installation is yet another factor

balanced product portfolio, expanding partner

that helps new partners achieve commercial

network and increasing intensity of marketing

success faster with Nedap products.

activities should enable the unit to achieve further
growth in revenue over the next few years.

Since RFID technology is increasingly being
used in libraries all over the world, demand for

Library Solutions

technological components is on the rise. More and

The Library Solutions business unit (RFID systems

more partners are switching to Nedap products

for libraries) is concentrating its efforts entirely

every day, so the business unit expects to increase

on the development and supply of technical

its revenue further over the next few years.

core components for ‘smart’ libraries. The global
increase in the number of partners has convinced

Light Controls

more and more libraries to adopt Nedap’s systems,

The Light Controls business unit (power electronics

enabling the unit to post higher revenue in 2015.

and control systems for the lighting industry) has
had a disappointing financial year. Almost all of its

The market for RFID systems for libraries is still

product lines faced difficulties, with overall revenue

developing steadily, with demand increasing on

dropping as a result.

major markets like the United States, as well as
in countries such as Spain and France. On the

The curing market (UV drying and hardening

other hand, the number of companies developing

of industrial inks, coatings and adhesives) was

technology especially for the library market is

negatively affected by a reluctance to invest in

dropping each year, so system integrators are

capital goods. This had a negative effect on curing

constantly looking for new technology providers.

equipment sales and demand for the lamp drivers

This presents commercial opportunities for Nedap.

used in this kind of equipment. Over the past few

The business unit operates in more countries than

years, Nedap lamp drivers have been included in

before, following expansion of its partner network

more and more designs of our customers’ different

to South Africa, Vietnam, Hong Kong, Mexico and

devices. Once the tide has turned and more

Canada. New partnerships have also been struck in

investments are being made in curing equipment,

Germany, the United States and Italy to name but a

the demand for Nedap UV lamp drivers is expected

few, which has improved market coverage.

to grow again.
In 2015, revenue posted for UV lamp drivers for
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The unit invested in reinforcing its product portfolio

disinfection (treatment of water with intensive UV

in 2015, which saw it launch a new RFID gate

light) was up slightly on the previous year, while

that offers unrivalled ease of installation and

global investments in water treatment projects

integration. Whereas partners used to have to

using UV light remained more or less unchanged.

choose from a number of separate products and

Shipbuilders the world over are preparing their
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operations for ratification of the IMO treaty

On the back of improvements to propositions and

comprising the International Convention for the

intensified sales efforts, the number of offers issued

Control and Management of Ships’ Ballast Water

is up significantly and the number of projects

and Sediments. Under this treaty, sea-going

involving the Luxon light management system

vessels have to clean up their ballast water before

continues to grow. More and more customers

discharging it. In North America, too, the US

are realising that this wireless light management

Coast Guard is tightening ballast water treatment

system enables them to halve the payback

requirements. To meet these requirements,

period for their lighting projects. One half of the

suppliers need to have their solutions certified,

energy cost savings is achieved by switching to

which involves long procedures and significant

new lighting technology, and the other by smart

outlay. Suppliers are increasingly basing their

switching of lighting.

ballast water treatment systems on Nedap lamp
drivers. It still is difficult to predict when ballast

Nedap sets itself apart from its competitors on the

water treatment will be a legal requirement and

lighting market with a solid wireless control system

therefore boost demand for our lamp drivers.

and a light management system that packs plenty
of functionality and is still user-friendly. This has

Falling oil prices have resulted in a large drop

raised interest in Luxon among end customers,

in investments in the offshore sector and oil-

while fittings suppliers are increasingly connecting

processing industry, causing a further reduction in

to the Luxon platform. Commercial training

sales of explosion-proof lighting. In light of oil price

targeted at the salesforces of these companies is

developments, revenue for this type of system

producing a healthy boost to solutions’ saleability.

will likely stay low in 2016. As expected, revenue

The business unit therefore expects growth on this

generated by the QL portfolio (street lighting and

market.

other applications) fell further in 2015.

The unit’s overall revenue will grow in the years to
come.

The business unit’s Luxon light management system
is designed for lighting projects in high-ceilinged

Livestock Management

buildings, which generally use high-power fittings.

Unfortunately, the Livestock Management business

Although this market previously mainly used High

unit (automation of livestock management

Intensity Discharge or HID lamps, LED lighting is

processes based on identification of individual

now increasingly popular. Since the Luxon system

animals) did not manage to sustain its increase

was made compatible with LED technology, the

in revenue over the financial year. The excellent

number of projects combining the two has risen

growth on the pig farming market was not enough

sharply.

to compensate for decreasing revenue on the

In light of the poor market outlook for HID

dairy market. As a result, the market group’s overall

technology, a decision was made at the end of

revenue was down on 2014.

2015 to accelerate depreciation and amortisation
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of the investments made in development,

After positive market conditions in 2014, the milk

production resources and inventories, while

market showed an entirely different picture in

development capacity in the field has also been

2015. Geopolitical developments and economic

reduced. The associated exceptional costs are

stagnation caused flagging demand for dairy

explained in more detail in the Financial highlights

products. Together with an increase in milk

section.

production following the abolition of the European

Union’s milk quota, this caused a sharp drop in milk

quantities of data. This data produces new insights

prices. This is a trend that started in mid-2014 and

and practical guidance that helps individual cattle

continued unabated in 2015. Albeit not instantly,

farmers improve their business. Over the coming

it did eventually have a negative effect worldwide

years, the business unit will further expand its

on dairy farmers’ willingness to invest. Recovery

software services portfolio.

is expected to start in mid-2016, which will - after
some time - lead to more investments in this

Investments in the product range have reinforced

market.

Nedap’s position on the pig farming market. Nedap
not only provides solutions for feeding pregnant

Sales channel expansion, especially in the

sows, but also for farrow feeding, weighing and

genetics segment, has enabled Nedap to greatly

sorting finishing pigs and monitoring the growth of

increase its share in this market. This has enabled

individual animals. This means the business unit

the business unit to largely compensate for the

has more to offer its customers and the average

reluctance to invest in this sector. In the long term,

revenue per project will therefore increase. In late

the trend towards increased scale will continue

2015, the business unit landed a major contract in

in this industry, which means greater demand for

China. This contract is special not only because of

automation. With its vast range of feeding, milking

its scope of approximately 8,000 sows and 66,000

and heat detection automation solutions for dairy

finishing pigs, but also because the customer has

farms, Nedap is ideally placed to tap into this

opted to roll out the full Nedap product range.

development.
All over the world, the combination of group
Nedap again invested heavily in product innovation

accommodation and electronic feeding stations

over the financial year. Its new generation of smart

has delivered excellent production results,

tags basically creates a wireless network that

boosting uptake of this way of running a pig farm.

keeps cows permanently online, allowing the dairy

Speed of uptake differs per country and is largely

farmer to closely monitor cows’ movements and

determined by returns realised. Despite a difficult

eating and lying behaviour. They also enable access

financial situation in the pig farming industry, the

to information from other sensors on or in cows.

business unit has achieved fine revenue growth in

The business unit is currently looking into which

this market. In North America in particular, a large

sensors can provide useful information to dairy

number of pig farms have made the switch to our

farmers in managing a thriving and productive herd

equipment, and numerous breeding farms have

of cows. We have seen demand for smart tag-based

also opted for Nedap. Our local teams support pig

cow positioning continue to grow. Nedap currently

farmers and assist integrators in selling, starting up

offers the most reliable and robust solution

and servicing our systems. This is an essential part

available on the market today, one that more and

of our marketing efforts.

more farms are using successfully.
Our business partners are increasingly using the
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For some time now, the business unit has been

Business Portal, where they can find the latest

working on providing cattle farms with global

product documentation, as well as software

centralised access to animal-related and process-

updates, e-learning modules and marketing

related data. In 2015, steady progress was made

material. YouTube videos have also proven

on the development of Business Insight, an

a popular source of information among our

innovative software service for the analysis of large

customers. In these video tutorials, we explain to
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users and fitters the best way to use our products.

and supermarket chains chose Nedap !Sense. The

The use of multimedia resources allows us to get

business unit expects to be able to expand its

information across faster and reduces the need for

position in this part of the retail market worldwide

costly training courses in Groenlo or on-site at the

over the coming years.

customer’s premises. All of this is making it easier
for us to expand our international partner network

The !D Top® overhead reader is another important

in a cost-effective way.

trump card in this business unit’s product range.
Easy to fit to the ceiling, this reader allows

Directly influenced by milk and meat prices, general

shops to do away with the traditional anti-theft

investment levels in the cattle farming sector will

gates at the entrance. The !D Top combines a

continue to impact on the business unit. Increasing

compact antenna and an integrated RFID reader

automation in the cattle farming industry will

with powerful software, while high-quality filter

continue in the long term, so the business unit’s

technology and direction detection reduce false

potential for growth will increase. Investments in

alarms to an absolute minimum. On top of that, !D

the product groups and commercial strength are

Top seamlessly integrates into RFID solutions for

expected to enable the business unit to further

in-store stock management. Given huge interest

expand its market share. Although short-term

among retailers, we are counting on strong growth

developments are impossible to predict, the

in demand for this solution.

business unit is hoping for a healthy increase in
revenue in the long term.

The business unit reinforced its presence in North
America in early 2015, opening a new sales office

Retail

in Boston with its own commercial team. Since then,

Despite challenging market conditions, the

a great deal of work has been put into intensifying

Retail business unit (security, management and

relationships with leading retailers. As a newcomer,

information systems for the retail sector) further

the challenge is to convince major retail chains of

increased its market share and revenue in 2015,

our ability to get the job done. Ample focus has

which has not gone unnoticed by our competitors.

therefore been targeted at building a network of

Major players are giving it their all, particularly in

partners with real clout who can offer technical

competing for large projects, and are not afraid to

support on a national scale. The first leading system

throw down the gauntlet when it comes to price.

integrators have meanwhile made the switch to

However, our continued investments in product

Nedap equipment. The unit expects to be able to

improvement have not only enabled us to maintain

launch the first large-scale projects at American

our competitive total cost of ownership, but also to

retail chains in 2016, although it is hard to estimate

convince retailers that our systems will ultimately

the exact date.

give them better results.
RFID technology will give fashion and other
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Interest in the !Sense® range at supermarkets and

retailers better information on inventories at their

hypermarkets grew in 2015. The ease of installation

various sites. This enables them to get the right

and high-performance integration with video

items in the right place, ensuring customers can

surveillance systems and pagers makes the !Sense

always find what they want and preventing unsold

an ideal solution for the security processes at these

inventories. Pilot projects have demonstrated that

kinds of stores. An important commercial success

Nedap’s RFID propositions significantly increase

came when one of Europe’s largest hypermarket

revenue and profits. However, experience has

shown that the decision-making process is very

industrial giant Bouygues and Deutsche Telekom.

lengthy when it comes to using RFID technology

The latest version of AEOS supports full end-to-

in a retail chain. This is down to factors such as

end encryption, meaning that all communication

the interfaces with the various IT systems that

between badge, reader, controllers and server

are required. Besides that, implementing an RFID

is encrypted to the highest standards. This

system leads to changes to operational processes

security solution is the first, and so far the only,

and has a major impact on how shops operate.

such system that has been certified by France’s

Rolling out an RFID solution is therefore far more

Agence Nationale de la Sécurité des Systèmes

complex than implementing an anti-shoplifting

d’Information. This kind of certification is expected

system across the entire chain.

to become a requirement for numerous European
defence and infrastructure projects. Having been

Nedap’s RFID proposition is targeted primarily

awarded this certification further increased the

at supporting in-store processes. Our integrated

Nedap solution’s competitive edge over the

solution seamlessly combines various kinds of

majority of its competitors who lack the means or

RFID reader with a cloud-based software service,

technology to get their products certified.

lowering the technological threshold for the rollout of this solution at major retail chains as much

The launch of the AEOS Blue line has had a positive

as possible. User-friendliness is another one of our

impact on our partners’ competitive position,

key focus points. Users need little training to be

with a significantly higher number of projects

able to implement an RFID system and success is

being landed, thanks to the competitive prices

guaranteed. If the RFID market grows, Nedap should

and major simplification of project design and

be very capable of carving out a leading position

system installation. The number of new partners

for itself.

embracing AEOS as standard has also increased, but
this growth has only had a limited impact on the

The increasing number of commercial contacts with

business unit’s revenue, due to long sales cycles.

leading retailers confirms that the business unit’s
propositions and commercial strength give it an

The business unit’s additional support for

outstanding starting position, so we expect revenue

consultants is starting to bear fruit. Consultants

on the Retail market to increase over the next few

play a key role in drawing up project specifications

years.

and when tasked with solving security issues, they
can turn to a dedicated team set up by the business

Security Management

unit for advice, technical documentation and

In increasing its market share, the Security

worked-out tender specifications. This approach

Management business unit (development and

has already led to an increase in the number of

supply of top-quality access control, locker

security projects with specifications that are geared

management, video surveillance, intrusion alarms

to AEOS, producing new commercial opportunities

and alarm response services using an open security

for Nedap partners.

platform) achieved excellent revenue growth in
2015.

The European Security Management market will
achieve limited growth over the next few years, but
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With its AEOS security platform, the business

Nedap will strengthen its competitive advantage

unit managed to win over yet more leading

by constantly investing in technology, organisation

organisations, including the European Parliament,

and people. The business unit expects to expand its
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market share and increase its revenue in 2016.

for this process to guarantee the highest level of
quality. A new department will be set up for this

Nsecure

purpose. Given the strict security requirements,

Full Nedap subsidiary Nsecure (development,

RFID badges, tags and labels for access control

implementation and maintenance of sustainable,

and vehicle recognition will be programmed and

user-friendly security solutions) posted increased

loaded internally at Nedap, in areas that have been

revenue in 2015, landing a key contract from a

designed specifically for this purpose.

major utility company during the financial year
thanks to its sound deployment of people and

The main challenge for the next two years will be

technology. Innovative access control support

ensuring a smooth transfer of production processes

services also boosted the growth in revenue. These

to selected production partners, while still

services involve taking care of identity, permit and

achieving problem-free delivery of current orders.

security certificate checks for major organisations

Although it is asking a lot of employees responsible

as part of their safety and security policies in a

for production, we rely on their professionalism and

largely automated process.

commitment in making this a smooth transition.

In order to reinforce its market position, Nsecure

Financial highlights

has spent a lot of time professionalising internal

Overall revenue in 2015 came in at €180.9

and external automation processes, so as to deliver

million, which was up 2% on 2014 (€177.2

an even higher level of service. 2015 saw the

million). Revenue from services (subscriptions and

subsidiary launch its ‘Control Your Access’ pay-off,

maintenance contracts) showed a further 20% rise

which emphasised its focus on service-oriented

to €28.3 million in the financial year (€23.6 million

and process-based access control. Nsecure expects

in 2014). This revenue currently makes up 15.6%

its growth to continue over the next few years.

of the overall revenue (13.3% in 2014). Added
value (revenue less cost of materials, plus or less

Production

inventory movements), expressed as a percentage

Major changes are being made to the production

of revenue, dropped from 70.0% in 2014 to 68.7%.

organisation and sites, following the decision to
subcontract most production activities. Inventi

An additional €1.3 million was spent on

will be closed in due course, while production and

Subcontracting and other costs compared with

logistics activities will be downscaled in Groenlo.

2014, and this increase is related to higher other

These measures will result in considerable one-off

employee costs.

costs and amortisation, which are explained in more
detail in the Financial highlights section. However,

The number of employees increased by 4 over the

we should be able to recoup these one-off costs

financial year, to 765 at year end. On average, the

within a few years thanks to the lower costs of sales

workforce counted 6 employees more than in 2014.

of our products.

Nedap received a one-off payment of €1.5 million
in past overpaid premiums from its former pension
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Owing to the unique nature of the production

provider, following the settlement of a pension plan

processes, Livestock Management’s smart tags

that expired at the end of 2014. These funds have

will continue to be manufactured in-house at

been incorporated into the social security costs,

Nedap. This is a fully robotised production process

which consequently fell as a percentage of wages

involving machines that were designed specifically

and salaries in comparison to previous years.

Depreciation and amortisation over the financial

influenced by one-off exceptional items. Adjusted

year amounted to €9.6 million, which is €1.0

for the aforementioned exceptional items of €9.1

million less than in 2014.

million, profit after taxation came in at €12.6
million in 2015 (€9.8 million in 2014). This is 7.0%

Exceptional items in 2015 amounted to €9.1

of revenue (5.5% in 2014).

million, while the exceptional costs due to the
supply chain reorganisation amounted to €9.2

An investment of €6.5 million was made in

million and are, as announced previously, expected

tangible fixed assets during the financial year,

to be recouped in around two years.

while an amount of €8.2 million was depreciated

Following a revaluation of the provisions made

and amortised on this item (€8.4 million in 2014).

for the Energy Systems business unit at the end

Impairment of €0.7 million was also applied (€1.2

of 2014, further downscaling of Energy Systems’

million in 2014).

activities will result in exceptional income of €0.1

Investment in intangible fixed assets amounted

million.

to €0.6 million in 2015, with depreciation and
amortisation of €1.4 million and impairment of €0.4

Of the total €9.1 million in exceptional items, €7.5

million (€4.0 million in 2014).

million relates to Restructuring costs, €7.2 million
of which is for employees. Impairment of assets

The inventory value was up €1.3 million to €24.7

amounted to €1.6 million in 2015 and is of a non-

million, amounting to 13.7% of revenue at the end

cash nature.

of the financial year (13.2% in 2014).

Capitalisation of fixed assets manufactured in-

At €31.1 million (€29.4 million in 2014), trade

house in 2015 was down €0.6 million on 2014,

and other receivables were €1.7 million higher at

amounting to €0.4 million. This item mainly

the end of 2015, thanks to the increased revenue

related to development projects. The total costs

posted in the final weeks of the year.

for development in the financial year amounted to
€20.5 million (€21.4 million in 2014). Of this, €0.3

The average credit term of trade accounts

million was capitalised (€1.1 million in 2014).

receivable dropped from 7.4 weeks in 2014 to 7.3
in 2015.

Net financing costs dropped sharply by €0.3 million

The 2015 balance sheet total fell by €1.2 million to

to €0.3 million, mainly due to improved interest

€110.9 million.

rate conditions.
Totalling €4.7 million, profit after taxation in
The 2015 tax rate amounted to -16.2% (21.1%

2015 was greatly affected by exceptional items,

in 2014), due to the combined impact of fiscal

prompting Nedap to decide to base the dividend

incentive schemes and offsettable losses. Nedap

payable for 2015 on profit after taxation excluding

has negotiated advantageous conditions with the

exceptional items. As a result, an amount of €3.9

Dutch tax authorities to apply the Innovation Box

million will be withdrawn from the ‘Reserves’. The

tax regime in 2016 to 2019 inclusive.

solvency ratio (shareholders’ equity excluding
payable dividends and minority interest divided
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These developments resulted in profit after

by the balance sheet total) consequently dropped

taxation of €4.7 million during the financial year

from 42.9% at the end of 2014 to 40.0% at the

(€17.9 million in 2014). Profits in 2014 were greatly

end of 2015.  The solvency ratio is expected to

Report of the Board of
Directors

increase gradually to the target of 45% over the

patience we need to move markets. What is more,

coming years, partly because the supply chain

all of our business units can draw on the ample

reorganisation will lead to a decrease in the

expertise in technology, markets and processes

balance sheet total.

available throughout the organisation as a key tool
in setting Nedap apart from other market players

Cash flow from operating activities in the financial

and maintaining a strong competitive position.

year was more than sufficient to cover investments
in tangible and intangible fixed assets and the

Continuous investment in developing our

dividend for 2014. On balance, bank debt rose by

propositions and commercial strength has

€1.3 million, which can be explained by the amount

enabled us to expand our position on the various

of €5.6 million received from the former pension

markets and enter new ones. The supply chain

provider at the end of 2014 being paid to pension

reorganisation is being executed with great care, so

participants in 2015, as expected.

as to mitigate the associated risks, and this is asking
a lot of our organisation and employees. The solid

At the end of 2015, total facilities amounted to

balance sheet and financial headroom give us a firm

€44.9 million (€45.6 million in 2014), of which

financial foundation. We are confident about the

€22.3 million is in use. Cash and cash equivalents

future and expect healthy long-term growth. On this

stood at €3.6 million at the end of 2015.

basis, we expect a further increase in revenue in
2016, unforeseen circumstances notwithstanding.

Nedap’s policy is to adequately mitigate risks that
could arise in relation to financial instruments, and
Nedap makes limited use of financial derivatives.

Groenlo, Netherlands, 11 February 2016

Financial risk management and the risks are
explained in the notes to the financial statements.

The Board of Directors:

For information on and notes to non-financial risks,

R. M. Wegman

please see the Corporate Governance section in

E. Urff

this report.
Outlook
Nedap is all about moving markets with technology
that matters. In recent years, we have constantly
worked to gear our organisation towards the
customer groups, products and activities for which
we can really make a difference. Focusing our
talents on this goal will increase our impact on our
markets.
The development and expansion of a leading
market position is a lengthy process, and one
that requires plenty of perseverance and drive.
It is often impossible to predict when we will
achieve commercial and financial success, but the
robustness of our organisation will give us the
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Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December (€ x 1,000)
compiled before appropriation of profit
2015

Assets
Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Associate
Loans receivable
Deferred tax assets

2014

note
1
1
2
3
4

42,430
4,665
3,681
63
215

45,219
5,805
3,152
154
177
51,054

Current assets
Inventories
Income tax receivable
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Statutory reserves
Reserves

5
6
7

8

Undistributed profit attributable to shareholders

24,728
390
31,106
3,638

23,437
973
29,444
3,768
59,862

57,622

110,916

112,129

669
4,187
43,357

669
5,578
32,327

48,213

38,574

4,671

17,877
52,884

115
–19

Minority interests
Undistributed profit attributable to minority interests

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Derivatives
Employee benefits
Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings
Derivatives
Provisions
Bank overdrafts
Income tax payable
Taxation and social security contributions
Trade and other payables

9
10
11
12
13

9
10
12
14

15

56,451
145
4

96

149

52,980

56,600

14,458
142
598
6,219
979

16,209
239
–
–
1,874

22,396

18,322

1,751
31
2,150
6,125
74
2,854
22,555

181
–
2,191
4,830
407
3,213
26,385

35,540

37,207

Total liabilities			
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54,507

57,936

55,529

110,916

112,129

Consolidated statement of profit or loss (€ x 1,000)
2015

2014

180,875

177,193

55,459
1,101
50,010
44,571
7,983
9,595
1,571		
7,531		
–
–436

52,903
310
48,758
43,288
9,963
10,557
7,164
1,422
–18,712
–1,033

177,385

154,620

3,490

22,573

note
Revenue
Cost of materials
Inventory movements of finished goods and work in progress
Subcontracting and other costs
Salaries
Social security costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of assets
Restructuring costs
Non-recurring pension results
Fixed assets manufactured in-house

16

17
18
19
20
21

Total operating costs

Operating profit
41
–417
66

Financing income
Financing costs
Value movements in derivatives
Net financing costs
Share of profit of associate
(after income tax)

22

Profit before taxation
Taxation

23

Profit over the financial year

Profit attributable to shareholders of Nedap N.V.
Profit attributable to minority interests

24

Profit over the financial year			

Average number of shares in issue
Earnings per ordinary share (in €)
Diluted earnings per ordinary share (in €)
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8

45
–694
7
–310

–642

955

585

4,135

22,516

–517

4,635

4,652

17,881

4,671
–19

17,877
4

4,652

17,881

6,692,920

6,692,920

0.70
0.70

2.67
2.67

Financial statements

Consolidated statement of total comprehensive income (€ x 1,000)
2015

Profit over the financial year

2014

4,652

17,881

Unrealised profit/loss
Items that are never reclassified to profit
or loss:
Movement requirement under the
defined-benefit pension plan
Items that will (or may) be reclassified
to profit or loss after initial recognition:
Currency translation differences
Unrealised profit/loss over the reporting period
after taxation

–

–7,644

60

–50
60

–7,694

4,712

10,187

Nedap N.V. shareholders
minority interests

4,731
–19

10,183
4

Total comprehensive income

4,712

10,187

Total realised and unrealised profit/loss
over the financial year
Total realised and unrealised profit/loss attributable to:
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Consolidated statement of cash flows (€ x 1,000)
2015

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit over the financial year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation including impairment
Book result on sale of tangible fixed assets
Share of profit of associate
Exchange differences for participations
Net financing costs
Income tax
Non-recurring pension results
Other non-cash items

4,652

10,694
–135
–955
–92
310
–517
–		
7,029
16,334

Movements
Movements
Movements
Movements
Movements
Movements

in
in
in
in
in
in

trade and other receivables
inventories
taxation and social security contributions
trade and other payables
employee benefits
provisions

–1,653
–1,731
–359
–3,777
–
187

–430
32
–166

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Investments in tangible fixed assets
Investments in intangible fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets
Dividend received from associate

31

15,794
–156
–585
–243
642
4,635
–18,712
8,888
10,263

7,039
–703
61
–3,845

–564

–4,487

13,089

30,696

–6,518
–617
465
426

–7,078
–1,173
373
394
–6,244

Cash flow from financing activities
Long-term borrowings drawn
Repayments on long-term borrowings
Repayments on loans receivable
Dividend paid to minority shareholders
Dividend paid to shareholders of Nedap N.V.
Acquisition of own shares (net)

17,881

4,807
508
456
–193
1,430
31
–7,333

Interest paid
Interest received
Income tax paid

2014

–
–181
91
–
–8,366
34

–7,484
–
–218
97
–
–7,362
61

–8,422

–7,422

Movements in cash and cash equivalents and banks				

–1,577

15,790

Cash and cash equivalents and banks at 1 January
Foreign exchange differences for cash and cash equivalents and banks

–1,062
152

–17,045
–193

Cash and cash equivalents and banks at 31 December

–2,487

–1,062

Financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity (€ x 1,000)

share
capital

Balance at 1/1/2014

669

Dividend
Appropriation of result
Movement in own shares
Movement in pension obligations
Profit for the financial year
Exchange differences
Balance at 31/12/2014

reserves

10,701

32,407

–5,073

7,503
61
–7,644

5,578

32,327

–1,451

10,962
68
–

145

53,714

–7,362
–2,430

–7,362
–
61
–7,644
17,877
–50

–

–7,362
–
61
–7,644
17,881
–50

56,451

149

56,600

–8,366
–9,511

–8,366
–
68
–
4,671
60

–

–8,366
–
34
–
4,652
60

4,671

4,187

43,357

4

17,877

60
669

total
shareholders’
equity

minority
interests

53,569

17,877

669

shareholders’
equity
attributable
to shareholders

9,792

–50

Dividend
Appropriation of result
Movement in own shares
Movement in pension obligations
Profit for the financial year
Exchange differences
Balance at 31/122015

statutory
reserves

profit
attributable
to shareholders

4,671

52,884

–34
–19

96

52,980

At year-end, the company repurchased 19,680 of its own shares (25,197 in 2014) that have yet to be transferred
to employees under the employee participation plan.
Statutory reserves can be broken down as follows:

2015

2014

Capitalised development costs
Profit from participations not
freely distributable
Exchange differences

3,569

5,064

737
–119

693
–179

Total

4,187

5,578
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(€ x 1,000, unless stated otherwise)

Accounting policies

to estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision

General

only has consequences for that period, or in the

N.V. Nederlandsche Apparatenfabriek “Nedap” is

revision period and future periods if the revision

based in Groenlo, the Netherlands.

has consequences for both the reporting period

The company’s 2015 consolidated financial

and future periods. Estimates relate primarily to

statements cover the company and its subsidiaries,

tangible and intangible fixed assets, employee

who together form the group, referred to below as

benefits and provisions.

Nedap.
Consolidation
Nedap develops and supplies smart technological

The financial data of N.V. Nederlandsche

solutions for socially relevant themes, including

Apparatenfabriek “Nedap” and of the subsidiaries

sufficient food, clean drinking water, sustainable

listed below (jointly referred to as Nedap),

energy, security and healthcare.

over which it has a controlling influence, have
been consolidated in full. On 26 August 2015,

On 11 February 2016, the financial statements

Nedap increased its 90% participation in Nedap

were approved for publication by both the

Beveiligingstechniek B.V. (based in Groenekan) to

Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors.

100%, making Nedap Beveiligingstechniek B.V.

The financial statements will be submitted to the

a wholly-owned subsidiary. The third-party share

general meeting of shareholders for adoption on 31

in shareholders’ equity and the profit/loss are

March 2016.

disclosed separately.
Stichting Medewerkerparticipatie Nedap has also

The consolidated financial statements have been

been included in the consolidation.

prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the

The 49.7% participation in Nedap France S.A.S.,

European Union and with Title 9 of Book 2 of the

which is based in Eragny sur Oise, France, has

Dutch Civil Code.

not been included in the consolidated financial
statements. Nedap has normal trade transactions

The financial statements are based on historical

with this participation and these transactions are

cost unless stated otherwise below. IFRS-

performed on a commercial basis with terms that

compliant reporting requires management to

are similar to those for transactions with third

make judgements, estimates and assumptions

parties.

that affect the application of accounting policies
and the reported value of assets, liabilities,

Balance sheet positions and transactions between

income and costs. The estimates and underlying

consolidated companies and unrealised profit/loss

assumptions are based on past experience and

on such transactions are eliminated when preparing

various other factors which are considered fair

the consolidated financial statements. The

under the circumstances. The results constitute the

unrealised profit/loss of consolidated companies

basis for judgements on the book value of assets

on transactions with non-consolidated companies

and liabilities that cannot be simply derived from

is eliminated in proportion to Nedap’s interest in

other sources. The actual results may differ from

that participation.

these estimates. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are under constant review. Revisions
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Nedap Beveiligingstechniek B.V., Groenekan, Netherlands

100% participation

Nsecure B.V., Barendrecht, Netherlands

100% participation

Inventi B.V., Neede, Netherlands

100% participation

Nedap Deutschland GmbH, Meerbusch, Germany

100% participation

Nedap Great Britain Ltd., Theale, Reading, UK

100% participation

Nedap Iberia S.A., Alpedrete (Madrid), Spain

90% participation

Sappers Iberia S.L., Alpedrete (Madrid), Spain

100% participation of Nedap Iberia S.A.  

Nedap Asia Ltd., Hong Kong

100% participation

Nedap China Ltd., Shanghai, China

100% participation of Nedap Asia Ltd.

Nedap FZE, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

100% participation

Nedap Inc., Wakefield, USA

100% participation

Foreign currency

equivalents) are recognised at amortised cost less

The financial statements are presented in euros,

impairment losses.

which is Nedap’s functional and presentational
currency. Profits/losses and financial positions of

Derivatives

consolidated companies in a functional currency

Nedap uses interest rate swaps to hedge interest

other than the euro are converted to euros as

rate risks. Interest rate swaps are recognised at fair

follows: assets and liabilities are converted at

value. Valuation differences are recognised in the

the exchange rate as at the balance sheet date,

statement of profit or loss as a separate item under

and income and costs are converted at the

net financing costs. Nedap does not use hedge

average exchange rate. Exchange differences on

accounting.

participations are added or charged to the statutory
reserves.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are recognised at historical

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted

cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

into the functional currency at the exchange rate

The recognised value of assets manufactured in-

on the transaction date. Profits and losses arising as

house consists of external and directly attributable

a result of the settlement of such transactions are

internal costs and overheads.

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Financial instruments

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is applied on a

Non-derivative financial instruments

straight-line basis over the estimated economic life.

Non-derivative financial instruments are loans

Land is not depreciated.

receivable, trade and other receivables, cash and

The annual depreciation rates are:

cash equivalents, borrowings and trade and other
payables, excluding projects in progress. On initial

Company buildings

3% to 10%

recognition, non-derivative financial instruments

Machinery

13% or 18%

are recognised at fair value, with directly

Installations

7% or 10%

attributable transaction costs included on initial

Other fixed assets

20%

recognition. After initial recognition, non-derivative
financial instruments (excluding cash and cash
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Depreciation rates are evaluated annually and

but does not hold a controlling influence are

adjusted if necessary.

recognised using the equity method. The equity
method is determined based on the accounting

Intangible fixed assets

policies underlying the consolidated financial

Research

statements.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss at the time of

Deferred tax assets

occurring.

Deferred tax assets relate to losses brought forward
and temporary differences between the book value

Development

of assets and liabilities and the tax book values of

Any development expenditure for which future

these items. Deferred tax assets are calculated, for

economic benefits can be estimated, that can be

each fiscal entity, at the tax rates that are expected

reliably measured and that was not incurred for the

to apply when they are realised.

maintenance of an existing product or adaptation
to suit new market circumstances is capitalised.

Inventories
Inventories are recognised at either cost or net

All other development costs are recognised in the

realisable value, whichever is lower. Cost is

statement of profit or loss at the time of occurring.

determined based on the First-In-First-Out method

The recognised value of capitalised development

(FIFO). Net realisable value is the estimated selling

costs consists of external and directly attributable

price less costs to be incurred. The cost of products

internal costs and overheads.

in progress and finished goods includes direct
manufacturing costs, plus a mark-up for indirect

Capitalised projects are technically feasible and

manufacturing and purchasing costs. The valuation

Nedap intends to implement them. Nedap has

of inventories takes the risk of obsolescence into

access to (or is able to obtain) sufficient technical,

account.

financial and other resources to finalise and market
the products it has developed.

Projects in progress for third parties
Projects in progress for third parties concerns

To a great extent, the capitalised projects are for

the gross amount that is yet to be charged and is

lighting and detection systems.

expected to be collected for work performed up to

Capitalised development costs are amortised on a

the balance sheet date. This item is recognised at

straight-line basis. Amortisation rates depend on

cost incurred, plus profit recognised up to that point

product types and range from 10% to 20%.

and less invoiced instalments prorated according to
the progress of the project and recognised losses.

Other

On the balance sheet, projects for third parties

Software & licenses acquired are recognised at

in progress where the sum of incurred costs and

historical cost less accumulated depreciation.

recognised profits exceeds the sum of invoiced

Depreciation and amortisation is applied on a

instalments and recognised losses are recognised

straight-line basis over the estimated economic life.

under trade and other receivables. Projects in
progress where the sum of invoiced instalments
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Associate

and recognised losses exceeds that of incurred

Associates in which Nedap can exercise significant

costs and recognised profits are presented as

influence on commercial and financial policy

prepayments received on the balance sheet.

Prepayments by customers are also presented as

which they relate. Administration of the scheme

prepayments received.

has been commissioned to a PPI. Nedap has no
other liabilities relating to the extent of the target

Impairment of assets

pension or indexations other than the contributions

The book value is reviewed mid-year and at

paid.

year-end for any indication of impairment. If such
indications are found, impairment is recognised

Defined-benefit pension scheme (up to 1 January

based on realisable value, which is either the

2015)

direct or indirect realisable value, whichever is the

Nedap previously had a defined-benefit pension

highest. Impairment is recognised in the statement

scheme for the majority of its employees in the

of profit or loss. If information or circumstances

Netherlands. This scheme provided for the accrual

arise in a subsequent period that show that the

of a pension on the basis of indexed average

impairment was overestimated, the impairment is

pay and term life insurance for the surviving

revoked. The book value of the asset is raised to

dependant’s pension. The implementation of the

the revised realisable value, albeit never beyond

scheme was entrusted to an insurance provider

the book value that would have been recognised

who guaranteed the defined benefits. A maximum

if impairment had not taken place. The increase is

of 25% of the equity was invested in share funds,

incorporated directly into the statement of profit

the remainder was invested in fixed-income

or loss. Assets both in use and not yet in use are

securities.

involved in determining impairment.

The net liability was determined by calculating
the present value of the defined benefits and

Statutory reserves

deducting the fair value of the investments from

These non-distributable reserves are formed for

it. The discount rate was the return, at the balance

the amount of development costs capitalised on

sheet date, on good quality bonds whose term

the balance sheet, for exchange differences for

approximated the term of Nedap’s liabilities.

participations and for the share in participations

The calculations were conducted by certified

which cannot be freely obtained. Statutory reserves

actuaries as per the projected unit credit method.

have also been included in the consolidated
statement of changes in shareholders’ equity to

Pension costs charged to the profit/loss each year

ensure reconciliation with the shareholders’ equity

comprised the annual accrual of liabilities (service

as recognised in the company financial statements.

costs), interest costs for the liabilities, expected
return on fund investments and other costs.

Minority interests

The interest rate, set at the start of the year, for

Minority interests are recognised at the share that

determining the return on fund investments, was

the minority shareholders hold in the shareholders’

equal to the rate used to calculate interest on the

equity of the consolidated company concerned.

defined-benefit liabilities.

Employee benefits

Differences between the estimated and actual

Defined-contribution pension scheme

developments and changes in assumptions were

Since 1 January 2015, Nedap has had a defined-

recognised immediately in unrealised profit/loss

contribution pension scheme for a large number

and through shareholders’ equity.

of employees. Liabilities are recognised as a cost
in the statement of profit or loss in the period to
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If entitlements under a pension scheme are

Financial statements

changed or if a scheme is curtailed, the resulting
change in past-service entitlements or the profit/

Revenue

loss on the curtailment is recognised through the

Revenue encompasses the fair value of receivables

statement of profit or loss. The group recognises

ensuing from the sale of goods or provision of

profit/loss on the settlement of a defined-benefit

services to third parties as part of Nedap’s regular

scheme at the time of settlement.

business operations, excluding taxation levied and
discounts given on revenue.

Other long-term employee benefits
Anniversary benefits provision

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the

Nedap’s net liability under other long-term

profit/loss when the significant risks and rewards

employee benefits concerns the amount of

of ownership of the goods have been transferred to

entitlements accrued by employees in exchange

the buyer.

for their services over the reporting period
and preceding periods. These entitlements are

Revenue from goods installed by Nedap itself is

discounted to determine the present value.

recognised in the profit/loss in proportion to the

Revaluations are incorporated into the profit/loss

stage of completion of the installation on the

for the period in which they occur.

balance sheet date. The stage of completion is
determined from the proportion of costs incurred

Deferred tax liabilities

to the total expected costs.

Deferred tax liabilities arise from temporary
differences between the book value of assets and

Revenue from services is recognised for each

liabilities and the tax book values of these items.

service or on a straight-line basis over the term

Deferred tax liabilities are calculated, for each fiscal

of the contract. If service contracts are invoiced

entity, at the tax rates that are expected to apply

in advance, these amounts are recognised on the

when they are settled.

balance sheet as amounts received in advance
under ‘trade and other payables’.

Provisions

Subsidies are deducted from the other costs in the

The guarantee provision is for claims made

period to which they relate.

by customers under agreed guarantees. The
term during which a customer can exercise this

Financing income and costs

right varies between products. The provision is

Financing income and costs are interest and similar

recognised on the basis of expenditure during

costs received from and paid to third parties and

the year under review and the previous two years.

value movements on interest rate swaps. Financing

Aside from that, the provisions contain specific

income and costs are recognised in the statement

guarantee commitments.

of profit or loss using the effective interest method.

A restructuring provision is recognised as soon

Taxation

as Nedap has approved a detailed and formal

Taxation on profit for the financial year comprises

restructuring plan, and a start has been made on

taxes payable and receivable for the reporting

the restructuring or when it has been announced

period and the movement in deferred taxation.

publicly. A provision is not made for future

Taxation on profit is recognised in the statement of

operating losses.

profit or loss, unless it relates to items recognised
directly in shareholders’ equity, in which case the
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related taxation is also recognised in shareholders’

reduces this risk by striving for a solvency ratio of

equity. Taxation payable or offsettable over the

45% and having financing facilities in place.

reporting period consists of income tax on the
taxable profit/loss, as calculated based on tax rates

Market risk

set by law, and corrections to taxation paid for

Market risk is the risk that Nedap’s income is

previous financial years.

adversely affected by changes in market prices,
such as exchange rates and interest rates.

Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the

Currency risk

indirect method. Cash flows in foreign currencies

Nedap reduces the currency risk by restricting the

are converted at the exchange rates on the date of

size of transactions in foreign currencies and, if

the cash flow or at average rates. Interest paid and

necessary, hedging these risks. The principal foreign

received is included in the cash flow from operating

currency is the US dollar.

activities, while dividend paid to shareholders

Net US dollar transactions, minus costs, did

is incorporated into cash flow from financing

not exceed 4% of revenue (3% in 2014). Net

activities.

transactions in other foreign currencies were no
more than 2% each.

Financial risk management
Nedap has an adequate and effective control

Interest rate risk

system that is targeted at things such as risk

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates

identification and risk mitigation. Risks and risk

would affect the profit for the financial year by €0.2

management efforts are detailed in the Corporate

million (€0.3 million in 2014).

Governance section.
Capital management
The use of financial instruments involves the

To continue operating in a manner that makes

following risks:

Nedap strong, the company pursues an operating
profit of at least 10% of revenue and a return on

Credit risk

shareholders’ equity of 15%-20% as financial

Credit risk is the risk of financial losses for Nedap

standards.

due to non-compliance with obligations under a

Given the innovative nature of the group as a whole

financial instrument on the part of a customer or

and the often project-oriented nature of its orders,

counterparty. Credit risks arise in particular on

we consider it desirable to maintain a solvency

receivables from customers. Nedap reduces this

ratio of about 45%, based on autonomous growth.

risk by insuring trade receivables where possible.

Dividend payable and minority interests are not

The risk of non-payment then lies largely with the

included in shareholders’ equity.

credit insurance company.
If possible, security is requested from trade debtors

From 2010, Nedap N.V. staff have been able to

who cannot be insured. If necessary, a provision for

participate in the company through Stichting

doubtful debts is formed.

Medewerkerparticipatie Nedap. Employees may
use their profit share to acquire depositary receipts
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Liquidity risk

for Nedap shares. The Board of Directors must

Liquidity risk is the risk that Nedap cannot meet its

contribute at least 50% of its variable annual

financial obligations when they become due. Nedap

income after taxation to this Stichting in exchange

Financial statements

for depositary receipts. Nedap has not granted

and resources, without financial settlement, is an

the Supervisory Board any rights to acquire Nedap

ongoing and informal process and, therefore, a vital

shares.

part of the entrepreneurial culture.

A limited amount of the reserves of Nedap Iberia

IFRS 8 requires the financial statements to present

S.A. is not freely distributable. Under Title 9 of Book

segment information that is in accordance with the

2 of the Dutch Civil Code, Nedap is also required to

internal information used by the directors to assess

maintain a statutory reserve for certain components

performance and allocate resources. Nedap N.V.’s

of the Dutch companies.

Board of Directors assesses the company’s overall
profit/loss and the performance of the business

There were no other changes in Nedap’s capital

units mainly on the basis of its own observations,

management strategy during the year. The company

day-to-day communications with the business units

and its subsidiaries are not subject to external

and development and market prospects. Based

capital requirements except as disclosed in these

on this, decisions are made, staff are allocated

financial statements.

and resources are made available. This concerns
non-financial information. Nedap does not have

Segmentation

separate segments as referred to in IFRS 8. The

Nedap’s long-term policy focuses on creating

geographical distribution of tangible fixed assets,

solutions with sustainable meaning for customers,

intangible fixed assets and revenue, and the

employees and shareholders. The company wishes

breakdown of revenue into categories are disclosed

to achieve this through growth in revenue and

in the financial statements as required by IFRS 8.

profit, based on the culture of expertise, creativity
and entrepreneurship that it has built up over the

As yet unimplemented standards and

past decades.

interpretations
Several new standards, amendments to standards

Achieving this objective not only requires know-

and interpretations did not come into force until 1

how of technology and market conditions, but

January 2016 and have therefore not been applied

also an increasing degree of knowledge of the

in these consolidated financial statements. The

customer’s business processes and applications

standards relevant to Nedap are explained below.

that our solution is ultimately used in. The focus

Like in previous years, Nedap does not adopt

of activities on a customer or group of customers

standards early.

(business unit) is a significant condition for creating
a genuinely distinctive and sustainable solution

IFRS 9, published in July 2014, replaces the

for our customers and their users, and thus also

existing guideline in IAS 39 Financial Instruments:

having sustainable meaning for our employees and

Recognition and Measurement and includes revised

shareholders.

provisions on the classification and measurement
of financial instruments including a new model
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The technologies used in such solutions are

for expected credit losses for the calculation of a

closely related, so the business units often draw

fall in value of financial assets and new general

on each other’s technological know-how, products,

requirements for hedge accounting. IFRS 9 will

systems, production resources and market and user

come into force for financial years beginning on or

experience. This applies for all of Nedap’s activities

after 1 January 2018.

and business units. This exchange of know-how

The group is currently assessing the possible effects

of applying IFRS 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
IFRS 15 provides a comprehensive framework for
determining whether, when and how much revenue
is recognised. It replaces the existing provisions on
revenue recognition, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS
11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer
Loyalty Programmes. In 2015, the International
Accounting Standard Board postponed the effective
date of IFRS 15 by 1 year, making it applicable to
financial years starting on or after 1 January 2018.
The group is currently assessing the possible effects
of applying IFRS 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.
IFRS 16 replaces existing regulations regarding
IAS 17 Leases, therefore scrapping the distinction
between operational leases and financial leases,
on the basis that virtually all lease contracts are
to be recognised on the balance sheet. Exceptions
include contracts with a term of under 12 months
or that are linked to assets that are of minor value.
IFRS 16 will come into force for financial years
beginning on or after 1 January 2019.  The group is
currently assessing the possible effects of applying
IFRS 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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1. Tangible and intangible fixed assets
company
buildings
and sites

plant and
machinery

other
equipment*

year-end 2013:
purchase price

42,928

31,283

58,389

depreciation and amortisation,
including impairment

18,878

24,704

42,553

book value

24,050

6,579

15,836

900

2,031

–1,549

under
construction
and
prepayments

intangible
fixed assets

134,136

16,354

86,135

5,824

1,536

48,001

10,530

1,297
–1,536

–34
–1,741
–40

3,103
1,316
–183
–5,151
–1,195

7,331
–220
–217
–8,441
–1,235

1,188
220
–15
–2,116
–4,002

–649

216

–2,110

–239

–2,782

–4,725

year-end 2014:
purchase price

43,828

31,877

61,043

1,297

138,045

17,727

depreciation and amortisation,
including impairment

20,427

25,082

47,317

92,826

11,922

book value

23,401

6,795

13,726

1,297

45,219

5,805

1,065

1,813

261
–1,297

–1,692

6,478
–
–330
–8,212
–725

617

–1,578

3,339
1,297
–330
–4,942
–725

–1,383
–374

–513

121

–1,361

–1,036

–2,789

–1,140

year-end 2015:
purchase price

44,893

33,442

61,684

261

140,280

15,750

depreciation and amortisation,
including impairment

22,005

26,526

49,319

97,850

11,085

book value

22,888

6,916

12,365

42,430

4,665

movements in 2014:
investments
completed assets under construction
net disposals
depreciation and amortisation
impairment
net movements

movements in 2015:
investments
completed assets under construction
net disposals
depreciation and amortisation
impairment
net movements

1,536

total
tangible
fixed assets

261

*moulds, dies, measuring and testing equipment, furniture and fittings, computer systems and vehicles.
Currency translation differences are ignored, given their small significance.
Tangible fixed assets are insured at new-for-old value.
A right of mortgage on immovable property amounting to €19.9 million
(€20.0 million in 2014) has been granted as security for the debts owed to the bank.
Liabilities entered into at the end of the financial year were €1.1 million (€0.8 million in 2014).
Impairment is explained under “Impairment of assets”.
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Geographical information on the book value of tangible fixed assets/intangible fixed assets:
2015

2014

Netherlands
Germany
Spain
rest of Europe
other countries

43,402
1,312
1,562
558
261

47,022
1,401
1,631
679
291

total

47,095

51,024

2. Associate
This is Nedap France S.A.S., Eragny-sur-Oise, France.
2015

2014

net asset value at 1 January
profit after taxation
dividend received
other movements

3,152
955
–398
–28

2,961
585
–348
–46

net asset value at 31 December

3,681

3,152

24,528
22,606
1,922
16,298
8,891

19,928
18,750
1,178
13,833
7,491

7,885

6,117

Key figures of the associate,
on 100% basis
revenue
costs
profit after taxation
total assets at 31 December
total liabilities at 31 December
Transactions with associate:
sales of goods and services
to associate

Of all liabilities as at 31 December 2015, €2,616 (€2,804 in 2014) is of a long-term nature.

3. Loans receivable

balance at 1 January
repayments
balance at 31 December

2015

2014

154
–91

251
–97

63

154

The loans have been granted to business partners.
The outstanding part of the loan is of a short-term nature.
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4. Deferred tax assets
2015

2014

balance at 1 January
withdrawals
additions

177
–48
86

871
–694
–

balance at 31 December

215

177

This concerns receivables from a number of subsidiaries. These receivables relate to losses brought forward. Certain losses
can be carried forward indefinitely and others for 20 years.
At 31 December 2015, there were no temporary differences, uncompensated tax losses or unused tax credits available
for which no deferred tax assets had been recognised, except for unused tax credits in the United States for State Tax
in several states. Given the uncertainty regarding future profits in these states, deferred tax assets (€15) have been
recognised at nil.

5. Inventories
2015

2014

raw materials and components
products in progress
finished goods

8,796
763
15,169

7,123
957
15,357

total

24,728

23,437

The provision for obsolescence at the end of the year was €4,733 (€4,104 in 2014).
The total costs for obsolescence in the financial year amounted to €1,387 (€2,837 in 2014).

6. Trade and other receivables
2015

2014

trade receivables
amounts owed by associate
other receivables and prepayments
and accrued income

25,578
1,664

24,974
1,004

3,864

3,466

total

31,106

29,444

€0.3 million of the trade and other receivables had a term of more than one year (€0.3 million in 2014).

Movements in provision for trade receivables that are deemed uncollectible:
2015

2014

balance at 1 January
withdrawals
additions

140
–69
525

169
–99
70

balance at 31 December

596

140

44

The average credit term for trade accounts receivable in 2015 was 7.3 weeks (7.4 weeks in 2014).
Nedap has insured the credit risk in its receivables wherever possible, with a pay-out of 90% (90% in 2014).
Please see the Financial risk management section for a risk assessment.

7. Cash and cash equivalents
2015

2014

cash
banks

5
3,633

34
3,734

total

3,638

3,768

Cash and cash equivalents are available on demand.

8. Share capital
The company’s authorised share capital consists of 15,600,000 ordinary shares and 15,600,000 preference shares, all with a
nominal value of €0.10 each. 6,692,920 ordinary shares have been issued.

9. Borrowings

Type of borrowing

Nominal interest rate

Maturity date

Euribor + 1.6%
Euribor + 0.5%
Euribor + 0.8%
8.3%

2019
2016
2021
2015

Standby roll-over
Bank loan
Annuity loan
Bank loan
Balance at 31 December

repayment liabilities due within 1 year
repayment liabilities due in 1 to 5 years
repayment liabilities due after 5 years

2015

2014

14,000
1,675
534
–

14,000
1,775
600
15

16,209

16,390

1,751

181

14,428
30

14,830
1,379

The fair value of the borrowings is not materially different from their amortised cost.
The financing agreement with the bank for the Standby roll-over loan will expire on 1 November 2019. Security has been
provided in the form of a right of mortgage (€16.3 million) and a pledge of fixtures and fittings and trade receivables. The
agreement does not contain any covenants.
The financing facilities of the Barendrecht-based Nsecure group company are subject to covenants. Nsecure’s ability to provide
guarantees must always amount to 20% and the total debt/EBITDA ratio may not be more than 3. As of 31 December 2015,
both these conditions were met.
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10. Derivatives
For part of the loans amounting to €1.7 million, the risk of interest rate fluctuations has been hedged using Interest Rate
Swaps (IRS). Interest rate swaps are recognised at fair value. Value movements are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss under net financing costs. At year-end 2015, the weighted average term of the derivatives was 3 years. The weighted
average effective interest rate was 4.2%. Two derivatives are set to expire in mid-2016 and they are recognised under
short-term liabilities.

2015

2014

balance at 1 January
value movement

239
–66

246
–7

balance at 31 December

173

239

2015

2014

balance at 1 January
additions

–
598

–
–

balance at 31 December

598

–

11. Employee benefits

Anniversary benefits provision:

The anniversary benefits provision has a predominantly long-term nature.
Measurement of the anniversary benefits provision is based on the following factors:
future salary increase
1.5%
present value factor
1.6%
Estimated likelihood to stay is related to employee age.

Pensions:
The agreement with the pension provider expired at the end of 2014 and was not renewed.
The pension scheme was converted into a defined-contribution scheme as of 1/1/2015 and is being administered by a
Premium Pension Institution (PPI).
2015

2014

balance at 1 January
premiums paid
benefits paid
profit sharing paid
expected return on fund investments
actuarial profit/loss
value adjustments
settlement

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

79,659
2,100
–1,600
–5,000
2,394
24,263
64
–101,880

balance at 31 December

–

–

Movements in fund investments:
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2015

2014

balance at 1 January
service costs
interest costs
benefits paid
contributions paid by members
actuarial profit/loss
settlement

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

86,464
3,032
3,217
–1,600
560
34,455
–126,128

balance at 31 December

–

–

Profit settlement:
release of fund assets
on closure of the scheme
release of liabilities
on closure of the scheme

–

–101,880

–

126,128

total profit settlement

–

24,248

Movements in liabilities:

Costs recognised in the statement of profit or loss from the defined-benefit scheme:
(included in social security costs and non-recurring pension results)
service costs
interest costs on liabilities
expected return on fund investments
value adjustments
profit settlement

–
–
–
–
–

3,032
3,217
–2,394
–64
–24,248

total costs of defined-benefit scheme

–

–20,457

Differences between estimated and actual developments and changes to assumptions are incorporated directly into
unrealised profit/loss.
lower or higher (–) return
on fund investments
actuarial loss arising from
financial assumptions
experience adjustment

–

24,263

–
–

–34,455
–

deferred taxation

–
–

–10,192
2,548

total

–

–7,644

Principal actuarial assumptions for measurement of the pension plan at year-end 2014:
discount rate for pension obligations at 31 December
expected return on pension assets
annual salary increase for indexation of entitlements
annual increase of built-in deductible
career increase on top of indexation

2.00%
2.00%
1.75%
1.75%
1.50%

Certain other actuarial assumptions are also applied, including the ‘Generatietafel 2014’ (-1/-1).
Since the defined-benefit scheme has been terminated, a sensitivity analysis is no longer performed.
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12. Provisions
2015

2014

1,468
–3,116
3,719

738
–1,856
2,586

2,071

1,468

723
–1,618
7,193

–
–
723

balance at 31 December

6,298

723

total provisions

8,369

2,191

Guarantee provision:
balance at 1 January
withdrawals
additions
balance at 31 December

Restructuring provision:
balance at 1 January
withdrawals
additions

The part of the provisions with a term of under 1 year (€2,150) is recognised under short-term liabilities. Given the
short-term nature of the provisions, they were not converted into cash. The restructuring provision was formed as per
the assumptions from the social plan.

13. Deferred tax liabilities

tangible fixed assets
intangible fixed assets
inventories
receivables
employee participation costs
provisions
balance at 31 December

2015

2014

468
892
127
–272
–157
–79

924
1,266
134
–291
–159
–

979

1,874

1,874
–895
–

2,212
2,237
–2,575

979

1,874

Movements in deferred tax liabilities:
balance at 1 January
charged to the profit/loss (net)
charged to unrealised profit/loss
balance at 31 December

The deferred tax liabilities have a predominantly long-term nature.

14. Bank overdrafts
The maximum overdraft under the facility is €28.7 million (€29.2 million in 2014).
Over the period from April to September, an additional facility of €5 million will be available.
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15. Trade and other payables

trade and other payables
liabilities on account of investments
prepayments received
other liabilities, accruals and deferred income
total  

2015

2014

7,884
481
4,339
9,851

6,244
521
3,216
16,404

22,555

26,385

€0.5 million of other liabilities, accruals and deferred income had a term of 1 year (€0.6 million in 2014).
At year-end 2014, €5.6 million related to liabilities in connection with termination of the defined-benefit pension plan.

Off-balance sheet rights and commitments
Long-term financial obligations of group companies:
(in € x million)
		 > 1 year and> 5 years and
< 1 year
< 5 years < 10 years
2015:
building rental
1.0
0.8
–
operating leases for vehicles
0.8
0.9
–
operating leases for ICT
0.3
0.2
–
2014:
building rental
operating leases for vehicles
operating leases for ICT

1.1
0.7
0.3

1.3
0.5
0.5

–
–
–

Guarantees issued by group companies in relation to building rental were €0.1 million (€0.1 million in 2014) and other
€0.2 million (€0.1 million in 2014).
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Nedap leases various business premises. The leases usually have a term of 5 years with a renewal option. Rents
are revised annually. There is also a lease contract relating to hardware and software leasing, maintenance and
management. This contract runs through to the end of 2017. Per-user costs under this deal are fixed for the entire
contract term. Three of the group companies lease their fleet of vehicles.
In the financial year, €2.5 million (€2.4 million in 2014) was recognised in the statement of profit or loss under
operational lease contracts.
Under the defined-benefit pension plan that ended at the end of 2014, Nedap is entitled to the technical profit/loss,
the extent of which still has to be determined by the former pension provider. This will not be possible until a run-off
period of 2 years has passed.
Nedap has received claims from several customers regarding Nedap’s alleged failure to meet contractual obligations.
Nedap does not expect these claims to have any financial consequences.

Related parties
Parties related to Nedap are the associate Nedap France S.A.S., the Stichting Preferente Aandelen Nedap and the
members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors. There were no other transactions with related parties
during the financial year except as presented in the financial statements.
Transactions are performed on a commercial basis.

16. Revenue
2015

2014

products, systems and installations
services

152,578
28,297

153,550
23,643

total

180,875

177,193

Services consist mainly of subscriptions and maintenance contracts for the Healthcare, Retail, and Security
Management business units.
Geographical sales areas:
Netherlands
Germany
rest of Europe
North America
other countries
total

55,110
27,641
59,390
19,344
19,390

52,658
31,538
57,030
20,360
15,607

180,875

177,193

Major customers:
No customer represents sales in excess of 10% of total revenue.
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Cost of research and development
2015

2014

total costs
depreciation/amortisation
capitalised costs
subsidies

19,869
1,372
–293		
–757

20,056
2,116
–1,082
–787

total

20,191

20,303

2015

2014

Netherlands
other EU
Asia
USA

660
60
30
13

656
63
29
9

total

763

757

2015

2014

pension costs
other social security costs

1,802
6,181

3,981
5,982

totaal

7,983

9,963

Average number of employees

17. Social security costs

A subsequent payment of €1,501 as part of the settlement of the pension contract that expired at the end of 2014 had
a positive effect on pension costs in 2015.
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Board of Directors’ Remuneration
basic
variable
incomeremuneration

pension
costs

total

2015
R. M. Wegman
E. Urff (from 2 April 2015)
G. J. M. Ezendam (up to 2 April 2015)

385
231
353

173
99
46

48
30
16

606
360
415

total

969

318

94

1,381

2014
R. M. Wegman
G. J. M. Ezendam

383
288

188
144

45
29

616
461

total

671

332

74

1,077

Mr Urff’s pay up to 2 April 2015 totalled €115.
Mr Ezendam’s basic income up to 2 April 2015 can be broken down into his pay as director, which amounted to €73,
and a compensation for loss of income due to his standing down from his directorship under the articles of association,
which amounted to €280.
The Board of Directors has to deposit at least 50% of its variable remuneration with Stichting Medewerkerparticipatie
Nedap in exchange for depositary receipts. The depositary receipts are locked up for a period of four years.
The purchase discount and bonus depositary receipts received (after 4 years), totalling €48 (€41 in 2014), are included
in the variable remuneration.
On 31 December 2015, Mr Wegman held 17,277 depositary receipts of shares in the company (13,779 in 2014) and
Mr Urff held 1,949 (– in 2014). Former director Mr Ezendam held 8,567 depositary receipts of shares in the company
(10,927 in 2014).
Further details of the remuneration policy are provided in the Corporate Governance section of this report.

Supervisory Board remuneration

G. F. Kolff
M. C. Westermann
D. W. J. Theyse
J. M. L. van Engelen
total
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2015

2014

40
30
30
30

40
30
30
30

130

130

18. Depreciation and amortisation
2015

2014

development cost and
other intangible fixed assets
company buildings
plant and machinery
other equipment

1,383
1,578
1,692
4,942

2,116
1,549
1,741
5,151

total

9,595

10,557

Changes in accounting estimates used in the way intangible fixed assets are amortised lead to amortisation being € (€58 in 2014) higher in 2015. This change in accounting estimates is related to the switch from amortisation based on units
sold, to straight-line amortisation.

19. Impairment of assets

impairment of assets

2015

2014

1,571

7,164

Impairment of assets concerns capitalised development costs, miscellaneous equipment and inventories of the Light
Controls and Energy Systems business units.

20. Restructuring costs
2015

2014

staff restructuring costs
guarantee costs and purchase commitments

7,193
338

1,422
-

total

7,531

1,422

This concerns costs relating to the supply chain reorganisation and the phasing out of  propositions at the Light Controls and
Energy Systems business units.

21. Non-recurring pension results

non-recurring pension results

2015

2014

–

–18,712

The defined-benefit pension scheme administered by an insurance company expired at the end of 2014
and was not renewed. Revenue concerned the settlement less payable benefits and costs.

22. Associate share of profit
This is the share of profit of Nedap France S.A.S., Eragny-sur-Oise, France.
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23. Taxation
2015

2014

3,180

21,931

income tax
deferred income tax

417
–934

1,704
2,931

total income tax

–517

4,635

profit before taxation,
excluding associate

Reconciliation of effective tax rate:
2015

2014

income tax based on
the Dutch tax rate
change in domestic tax rate
effective of tax rate for
non-resident associates
non-deductible expenditures
tax incentive schemes
prior-year adjustment

795
–10		

25.0%
–0.3%

5,483
–22

25.0%
–0.1%

–145
71		
–794
–434

–4.6%
2.2%
–25.0%
–13.6%

–68
85
–721
–122

–0.3%
0.4%
–3.3%
–0.6%

total

–517

–16.3%

4,635

21.1%

24. Profit attributable to minority interests
The portion of the net profit/loss of subsidiaries attributable to minority shareholders.
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Balance sheet of Nedap N.V. at 31 December (€ x 1,000)
compiled before appropriation of profit
2015

2014

Assets

noot
Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Financial fixed assets
Loans receivable

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

1
1
2
3

4
5
6

31,605
3,656
16,850
63		

32,531
5,064
15,936
154

52,174

53,685

11,654
30,846
613

9,839
30,044
611
43,113

40,494

95,287

94,179

Liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Statutory reserves
Reserves

7

Profit for the financial year

669
4,187
43,357

669
5,578
32,327

48,213

38,574

4,671

17,877
52,884

56,451

Provisions

8

9,698

3,913

Non-current liabilities

9

14,000

14,000

10

18,705

19,815

Current liabilities

Total liabilities

42,403

37,728

95,287

94,179

Statement of profit or loss of Nedap N.V.
(€ x 1.000)
2015

2014

Profit/loss of participations after taxation
Other profit/loss after taxation

2,822
1,849

5,902
11,975

Profit attributable to shareholders

4,671

17,877
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Notes to the financial statements of Nedap N.V.
(€ x 1,000, unless stated otherwise)
Accounting policies
Pursuant to Article 362, subsection 8, Book 2 of the Dutch
Civil Code, use is made of the option to use Title 9 of Book 2
of the Dutch Civil Code for the company financial statements
and apply the accounting policies of the consolidated
financial statements. This ensures reconciliation of
consolidated and separate shareholders’ equity.
Pursuant to Article 402 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code,
use is made of the option to publish an abridged company
statement of profit or loss.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. Please see the
notes on the accounting policies for the consolidated
financial statements for a description of the accounting
policies relating to these standards.
Financial fixed assets include the Nedap group’s subsidiaries
and participations where significant influence can be
exercised over the commercial and financial policy. These
participations are recognised using the equity method.
The equity method is determined based on the accounting
policies underlying the consolidated financial statements.
Participations with an equity deficit are recognised at nil.
The equity deficit is deducted from receivables from these
participations. The equity value of subsidiaries is increased
by the value of borrowings granted to them, measured at
amortised cost.
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1. Tangible and intangible fixed assets
company
buildings
and sites

plant and
machinery

other
equipment*

year-end 2013:
purchase price

34,301

23,163

48,632

depreciation and amortisation,
including impairment

17,149

19,468

37,289

book value

17,152

3,695

11,343

855

1,607

–1,197

under
construction
and
prepayments

intangible
fixed assets

107,632

14,978

73,906

4,767

1,536

33,726

10,211

1,297
–1,536

6,150
–
–127
–5,983
–1,235

884

–967
–40

2,391
1,536
–127
–3,819
–1,195

–2,029
–4,002

–342

600

–1,214

–239

–1,195

–5,147

year-end 2014:
purchase price

35,156

23,589

51,722

1,297

111,764

15,862

depreciation and amortisation,
including impairment

18,346

19,294

41,593

79,233

10,798

book value

16,810

4,295

10,129

1,297

32,531

5,064

1,035

1,676

261
–1,297

–1,010

6,065
–
–347
–5,919
–725

168

–1,236

3,093
1,297
–347
–3,673
–725

–1,202
–374

–201

666

–355

–1,036

–926

–1,408

year-end 2015:
purchase price

36,191

25,190

52,286

261

113,928

13,435

depreciation and amortisation,
including impairment

19,582

20,229

42,512

82,323

9,779

book value

16,609

4,961

9,774

31,605

3,656

movements in 2014:
investments
completed assets under construction
net disposals
depreciation and amortisation
impairment
net movements

movements in 2015:
investments
completed assets under construction
net disposals
depreciation and amortisation
impairment
net movements

1,536

total tangible
fixed assets
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*moulds, dies, measuring and testing equipment, furniture and fittings, computer systems and vehicles.
Tangible fixed assets are insured at new-for-old value.
A right of mortgage on immovable property amounting to €16.4 million
(€16.4 million in 2014) has been granted as security for the debts owed to the bank.
Liabilities entered into at the end of the financial year were €1.1 million (€0.8 million in 2014).
Impairment is explained under “Impairment of assets” (consolidated financial statements).
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2. Financial fixed assets
2015

2014

value at 1 January
profit
profit share
movement in current account relationships
for participations in group companies
exchange differences
other movements

12,784
1,467
–2,610

10,533
5,317
–2,500

4,103
60
79

1,851
–50
–1,315

value at 31 December

15,883

13,836

Participations in group companies:

new borrowings issued to
participations in group companies
repayments of borrowings by participations
in group companies

213

–

–2,927

–1,052

total value at 31 December

13,169

12,784

Total borrowings issued to participations in group companies at year-end 2015: €0.7 million (€3.4 million in 2014).
Security of €0.7 million has been provided on immovable property in relation to the above borrowings.

Associate:
value at 1 January
profit
profit share
other movements

3,152
955
–398
–28

2,961
585
–348
–46

value at 31 December

3,681

3,152

16,850

15,936

2015

2014

154
–91

251
–97

63

154

total financial fixed assets
at 31 December

3. Loans receivable

balance at 1 January
repayments
balance at 31 December

The borrowings have been granted to business partners.
The outstanding part of the borrowings is of a short-term nature.
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4. Inventories

raw materials and components
products in progress
finished goods
total

2015

2014

3,190
289
8,175

833
453
8,553

11,654

9,839

The provision for obsolescence at the end of the year was €2,336 (€3,654 in 2014).
The total costs for obsolescence in the financial year amounted to €1,249 (€2,596 in 2014).

5. Trade and other receivables
2015

2014

trade receivables
receivables from participations
other receivables and prepayments
and accrued income

13,982
15,011

13,416
14,197

1,853

2,431

total

30,846

30,044

€0.2 million of the trade and other receivables has a term of more than one year (€0.2 million in 2014).

6. Cash and cash equivalents
2015

2014

cash
banks

1
612

29
582

total

613

611

Cash and cash equivalents are available on demand.

7. Shareholders’ equity
Please see the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the “statement of changes in
shareholders’ equity”.

8. Provisions
2015

2014

employee benefits
guarantee provision
restructuring provision
deferred tax liabilities

541
1,953
6,225
979

–
1,316
723
1,874

total

9,698

3,913
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Employee benefits
2015

2014

balance at 1 January
additions

–
541

–
–

balance at 31 December

541

–

Anniversary benefits provision:

The anniversary benefits provision has a predominantly long-term nature.
Please refer to the consolidated financial statements for the assumptions.

Pensions:
The agreement with the pension provider expired at the end of 2014 and was not renewed.
The pension scheme was converted into a defined-contribution scheme as of 1/1/2015 and is being administered by a
Premium Pension Institution (PPI).
2015

2014

Movements in fund investments:
balance at 1 January
premiums paid
benefits paid
profit shares paid
expected return on fund investments
actuarial profit/loss
value adjustments
settlement

–
74,550
–
1,900
–
–1,600
–
–5,000
–
2,216
–		 22,509
–
–242
–
–94,333

balance at 31 December

–

–

balance at 1 January
service costs
interest costs
benefits paid
contributions paid by members
actuarial profit/loss
settlement

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

79,963
2,632
2,966
–1,600
490
30,906
–115,357

balance at 31 December

–

–

–

–94,333

–

115,357

–

21,024

Movements in liabilities:

Profit settlement:
release of fund assets
on closure of the scheme
release of liabilities
on closure of the scheme
total profit settlement

Please see the notes to the consolidated financial statements for the principal actuarial assumptions for measuring the
pension plan.
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Guarantee provision

balance at 1 January
withdrawals
additions
balance at 31 December

2015

2014

1,316
–2,935
3,572

624
–1,601
2,293

1,953

1,316

€1.4 million of the guarantee provision is of a short-term nature (€0.8 million in 2014).

Restructuring provision

balance at 1 January
withdrawals
additions
balance at 31 December

2015

2014

723
–1,618
7,120

–
–
723

6,225

723

For the liability ensuing from the supply chain reorganisation, Nedap has agreed a social plan to enable arrangements
in dealing with the negative consequences that the phase-out of production activities at Nedap N.V. and Inventi B.V. will
have for redundant employees. The restructuring provision was formed as per the assumptions from the social plan.
€0.6 million of the restructuring provision is of a short-term nature (€0.7 million in 2014).

Deferred tax liabilities

tangible fixed assets
intangible fixed assets
inventories
receivables
employee participation costs
provisions
total

2015

2014

468
892
127
–272
–157
–79

924
1,266
134
–291
–159
–

979

1,874

1,874
–895
–		

2,212
1,761
–2,099

979

1,874

Movements in deferred tax liabilities:
balance at 1 January
charged to the profit/loss (net)
charged to unrealised profit/loss
balance at 31 December

The deferred tax liabilities have a predominantly long-term nature.
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9. Non-current liabilities

borrowings

2015

2014

14,000

14,000

Borrowings
This is a credit facility with a ceiling of €14.0 million ending on 1 November 2019, under which amounts of at least €0.5 million
can be withdrawn for a term of no less than 14 days and no more than 12 months. The interest rate is Euribor plus 1.6%.

10. Current liabilities
2015

2014

bank overdrafts
taxation and social security contributions
trade and other liabilities,
accruals and deferred income

5,784
1,539

836
1,697

11,382

17,282

total

18,705

19,815

Bank overdrafts
The maximum overdraft under the facility is €25 million (€25 million in 2014).
Over the period from April to September inclusive, an additional facility of €5 million will be available.

Trade and other payables

trade and other payables
liabilities on account of investments
prepayments
other liabilities, accruals and deferred income
total

2015

2014

3,487
244
902
6,749

2,979
341
806
13,156

11,382

17,282

€0.4 million of other liabilities, accruals and deferred income had a term of longer than
1 year (€0.5 million in 2014). At year-end 2014, €5.6 million related to liabilities in connection with termination of the
defined-benefit pension plan.
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Off-balance sheet rights and commitments
Bank guarantees of €1.7 million have been issued for group companies.
For corporate income tax purposes, Nedap N.V. forms a fiscal entity with Inventi B.V., to which Nedap Beveiligingstechniek
B.V. also acceded on 22 November 2015.
All companies are jointly and severally liable for payment of income tax due.
Under Article 2:403 of the Dutch Civil Code, Nedap N.V. has assumed joint and several liability for Inventi B.V.’s debt
ensuing from legal acts.

Average number of employees
2015

2014

Netherlands
other EU

549
5

547
5

total  

554

552

External audit fees
This item relates to the total fee for services provided by KPMG Accountants N.V.
2015

2014

audit of the financial statements
other services

161
4

152
4

total  

165

156

Groenlo, Netherlands, 11 February 2016

The Board of Directors:

The Supervisory Board:

R. M. Wegman
E. Urff

G. F. Kolff, chairman
M. C. Westermann, vice-chairman
D. W. J. Theyse
J. M. L. van Engelen
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Statement pursuant to Article 5:25c(2c) of the Dutch Financial Supervision Act
To the best of our knowledge,
1

the financial statements (with Other information as
specified in Article 2:392 of the Dutch Civil Code)
provide a faithful representation of the assets,
liabilities, financial position, and profit/loss of Nedap
N.V. and companies included in the consolidation; and

2

the annual report provides a faithful representation
of the position at 31 December 2015 and the
development and performance during the 2015
financial year of Nedap N.V. and the undertakings
included in the consolidation taken as a whole and
the 2015 annual report describes the risks Nedap N.V.
is facing.

Groenlo, Netherlands, 11 February 2016
Board of Directors:
R. M. Wegman
E. Urff
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Other
Information

Independent auditor’s report

Report on the audit of the annual financial

Basis for our opinion

statements 2015

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch

Opinion

law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our

In our opinion:

responsibilities under those standards are further

• the consolidated financial statements give a true

described in the ‘Our responsibilities for the audit

and fair view of the financial position of N.V.

of the financial statements’ section of our report.

Nederlandsche Apparatenfabriek “Nedap” as at

We are independent of N.V. Nederlandsche

December 31, 2015, and of its result and its cash

Apparatenfabriek “Nedap” in accordance with

flows for 2015 in accordance with International

the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid

Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by

van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO)

the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of

and other relevant independence regulations in

Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code;

the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied

• the company financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of N.V.

accountants (VGBA).

Nederlandsche Apparatenfabriek “Nedap” as

We believe that the audit evidence we have

at December 31, 2015, and of its result for

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

2015 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the

basis for our opinion.

Netherlands Civil Code.
What we have audited
We have audited the financial statements 2015
of N.V. Nederlandsche Apparatenfabriek “Nedap”,
based in Groenlo. The financial statements include
the consolidated financial statements and the
company financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements comprise:
1 the consolidated statement of financial position
as at December 31, 2015;
2 the following consolidated statements for
2015: the income statement, the statements of
comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows; and  
3 the notes comprising a summary of the
significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
The company financial statements comprise:
1 the company balance sheet as at December 31,
2015;
2 the company profit and loss account for 2015;
and
3 the notes comprising a summary of the
significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
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Other Information

For procedures of other auditors, we sent

Our approach

instructions to local auditors of group entities, in

For the restructuring costs, impairment of assets

which specific risks and focus areas for the local

and the restructuring provision we evaluated

audits were mentioned. In addition, we have a

compliance with accounting standards. We took

program of site visits on a rotational basis to assess

notice of substantiating documentation to the

the quality of the local audits as support for our

decisions for the reorganisation of the supply

ability to rely on the work of the local auditors.

chain and assessed that the obligations were

By performing the procedures mentioned above at

committed before 31 December 2015, amongst

group entities, together with additional procedures

others by assessing the announcement to

at group level, such as analytical review and

employees before December 31, 2015. For the

analysis of risks and discussions with management,

restructuring costs and restructuring provision we

we have been able to obtain sufficient and

assessed the calculations based on arrangements

appropriate audit evidence about the group’s

in the Social Plan. Furthermore, we evaluated

financial information to provide an opinion about

management’s estimates for the restructuring costs

the financial statements.

and the impairment of assets. Existing termination
agreements with employees were reconciled with

Our key audit matters

personnel related restructuring costs. We critically

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our

assessed whether the impairments are specifically

professional judgment, were of most significance

related to the reorganisation of the supply chain,

in our audit of the financial statements. We have

taking into account assets that are expected

communicated the key audit matters to the

to be used in the coming years. Furthermore,

Supervisory Board. The key audit matters are not a

we evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures

comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.

in the annual report regarding “restructuring

These matters were addressed in the context of our

costs”, “Impairment of assets” and “restructuring

audit of the financial statements as a whole and in

provision”.

forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of inventories
Description

Reorganisation supply chain

As part of the decision to outsource the

Description

production and logistical activities resulting in the

In 2015 N.V. Nederlandsche Apparatenfabriek

reorganisation of the supply chain, the inventories

“Nedap” decided to outsource the production and

of N.V. Nederlandsche Apparatenfabriek “Nedap”

logistical activities, resulting in a reorganisation

will be partially reduced during 2016 and 2017. At

of the supply chain in the coming two years.

year-end 2015, inventories amounting to EUR 24.7

Consequently, incidental results amounting to EUR

million are included in the balance sheet, taking

9.2 million (before tax) are recorded in the financial

into account a provision for obsolescence of EUR

year 2015, relating to restructuring costs and

4.7 million. During 2015 costs for obsolescence

impairment of assets.

amounting to EUR 1.4 million are recorded. As a

In the balance sheet as per December 31, 2015 a

consequence of the decision mentioned before the

restructuring provision of EUR 6.3 million is recorded.

valuation of inventories was a key audit matter in

The incidental expenses and the restructuring

our audit.

provision regarding the reorganisation of the supply
chain were a key audit matter in our audit.
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Our approach

either intends to liquidate the company or to

We audited the accuracy and completeness of

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative

the impairment of inventories. Our assessment

but to do so. Management should disclose events

consisted of a critical evaluation of assumptions

and circumstances that may cast significant doubt

relating to the impairment of inventories, partially

on the company’s ability to continue as a going

based on identification of obsolete inventories

concern in the financial statements.  

by management and market group leaders.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for

Additionally, we evaluated management’s analysis

overseeing the company’s financial reporting

of turnover rates on product level, including

process.

amongst others assessment of reliability of used
source information. For inventory products for

Our responsibilities for the audit of financial

which according to management no impairment is

statements

necessary, we performed test of details to assess

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit to

whether sales orders exist for these products, sales

obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence

are forecasted based on amongst others budgets

for our opinion.

and assessed if recent sales resulted in positive

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not

margins. Furthermore, we evaluated the application

absolute, level of assurance, which means we may

of the valuation principles and the adequacy of

not have detected all errors and fraud.

the disclosures in the annual report regarding

For a further description of our responsibilities

inventories and obsolescence expenses.

in respect of an audit of financial statements we
refer to the website of the professional body for

Responsibilities of Management and the

accountants in the Netherlands (NBA) www.nba.nl/

Supervisory Board for the financial statements

standardtexts-auditorsreport

Management of N.V. Nederlandsche
Apparatenfabriek “Nedap” is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and with
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code
and for the preparation of the management board
report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Netherlands Civil Code. Furthermore, management
is responsible for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of the financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to
errors or fraud.  
As part of the preparation of the financial
statements, management is responsible for
assessing the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Based on the financial reporting
framework mentioned, management should
prepare the financial statements using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management
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Other Information

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Report on the Management Board Report and the
other information
Pursuant to legal requirements of Part 9 of Book
2 of the Netherlands Civil Code (concerning our
obligation to report about the Management Board
Report and other information):
• We have no deficiencies to report as a result of
our examination whether the Management Board
Report, to the extent we can assess, has been
prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2
of the Netherlands Civil Code, and whether the
information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of
the Netherlands Civil Code has been annexed.
• We report that the Management Board Report, to
the extent we can assess, is consistent with the
financial statements.

Engagement
We were engaged by the General Meeting of
Shareholders as auditor of N.V. Nederlandsche
Apparatenfabriek “Nedap” on April 2, 2015 for the
financial year 2015.

Amstelveen, 11 February 2016
KPMG Accountants N.V.
E. J. L. van Leeuwen RA
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Provisions of the Articles of Association concerning the appropriation of
profit in accordance with Article 45

Paragraph 1:

Appropriation of profit

The portion of profit - the positive balance in the

€ x 1,000

income statement - to be allocated to the reserves
shall be determined each year by the Board of

Profit attributable to shareholders

4,671

Management and the Supervisory Board.

Other reserves

3,896

Paragraph 2:

Dividend payable

A dividend shall be paid on the preference shares

on the ordinary shares

8,567

from the profit remaining after the allocation to the
reserves as referred to in the previous paragraph,

Branches

equivalent to a percentage equal to the sum of

Naamloze vennootschap ‘Nederlandsche

the weighted averages of the deposit interest

Apparatenfabriek Nedap’, Vilvoorde, Belgium

rate of the European Central Bank - weighted

(trading name: Nedap België),

by the number of days for which the dividend is

NSecure, Valencia, Spain.

paid - plus three per cent (3%). The dividend on
preference shares shall be calculated on the
paid-up portion of the nominal amount. If, in any
year, the profit is insufficient to pay the dividend
on the preference shares pursuant to the first
sentence of this clause, the shortfall shall as far
as possible be paid out of the freely distributable
portion of equity.
Paragraph 3:
Any remaining profit shall be distributed as a
dividend on ordinary shares.
Paragraph 5:
If a loss is incurred in any year, no dividend shall
be distributed for that year. Dividends may not be
distributed in subsequent years until the loss has
been extinguished by profits. The General Meeting
may however resolve, upon a joint proposal of the
Supervisory Board and the Board of Management,
to extinguish such a loss by charging it to the
distributable part of equity.

71

Miscellaneous

Five-year summary

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

180,875

177,193

173,696

171,874

152,345

52,554

53,251

51,238

47,223

43,729

Operating profit
- as % of revenue

3,490
1.9

22,573
12.7

11,751
6.8

16,382
9.5

13,885
9.1

Interest expenses

310

642

589

653

934

4,652
10.5
2.6

17,881
37.2
10.1

9,807
21.2
5.6

13,505
27.5
7.9

10,989
21.7
7.2

Depreciation and amortisation, incl
impairment.

10,694

15,794

10,016

9,204

8,063

Cash flow 2)

15,346

33,675

19,823

22,709

19,052

163

164

160

166

152

8,567
–3,896
–19

8,366
9,511
4

7,362
2,430
15

10,106
3,374
25

8,232
2,747
10

2.29
0.70
1.28

5.03
2.67
1.25

2.96
1.46
1.10

3.39
2.01
1.51

2.85
1.64
1.23

34.75
26.05
30.80
44

33.50
26.00
26.78
10

33.66
27.65
30.00
21

29.64
19.77
29.30
15

25.70
18.17
20.01
12

765
763

761
757

744
742

709
702

684
673

Operations
€ x 1,000
Revenue
Salaries and social security costs

Profit over the financial year
- as % of shareholders’ equity 1)
- as % of revenue

Added value
per employee 3)

Profit appropriation
€ x 1,000
Profit distributable to shareholders
Retained profit
Minority interest profit

Per share of €0.10 4)
in €
Cash flow
Profit for shareholders
Dividend
Highest price
Lowest price
Price at year-end
Price/profit ratio at year-end

Number of employees
At year-end
Average during the year
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2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

Share capital
Reserves

669
47,544

669
37,905

669
43,108

669
44,980

669
47,138

Shareholder’s equity
excluding undistributed profit

48,213

38,574

43,777

45,649

47,807

4,671

17,877

9,792

13,480

10,979

115
–19

145
4

130
15

129
25

120
10

Shareholder’s equity

52,980

56,600

53,714

59,283

58,916

Non-current liabilities

22,396

18,322

25,654

21,406

22,986

Current liabilities

35,540

37,207

46,814

45,289

45,340

110,916

112,129

126,182

125,978

127,242

40.0

42.9

36.6

38.9

39.7

Fixed assets

51,054

54,507

62,614

60,194

63,406

Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

24,728
31,496
3,638

23,437
30,417
3,768

25,811
34,271
3,486

26,810
36,041
2,933

28,142
32,360
3,334

Current assets

59,862

57,622

63,568

65,784

63,836

110,916

112,129

126,182

125,978

127,242

Investments in fixed assets

7,095

8,519

12,282

11,237

12,434

Inventories as % of revenue

13.7

13.2

14.9

15.6

18.5

7

7

8

7

8

Financing
€ x 1,000

Shareholder undistributed profit
Minority interests
Minority interest undistributed profit

Total
Shareholder’s equity 1) in % of total
equity

Utilisation of capital
€ x 1,000

Total

Average credit terms for
trade accounts receivable in weeks

1) shareholders’ equity is exclusive of dividend payable and minority interests.
2) cash flow comprises profits for the financial year plus depreciation and amortisation.
3)	a dded value per employee is revenue less inventory movements and the cost of materials 		
divided by the average number of employees.
4) 6,692,920 shares are issued.
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Miscellaneous

Companies and management

(At 11 February 2016)
N.V. Nederlandsche

R. M. Wegman (49)

Apparatenfabriek “Nedap’’

E. Urff (48)

Parallelweg 2
7141 DC Groenlo
Netherlands
Business units

Nedap Belgium

Energy Systems

R. M. Wegman (49) acting

Healthcare

G. J. W. Droppers (46)

Identification Systems

M. C. Mijwaart (42)

Library Solutions

J. M. Beugelsdijk (43)

Light Controls

J. Somsen (51)

Livestock Management

A. B. M. Verstege (53)

Retail

R. Schuurman (45)

Security Management

S. H. Volkers MBA (41)

Production Groenlo

P. G. M. Oostendorp (52)

Inventi

M. G. M. Hoitink-te Woerd (44)

Sourcing Team

M. W. T. van Zutphen BSc MBA (48)

T. Elferink (32)

Maria-Theresialaan 2.0.1
1800 Vilvoorde
Belgium
Nedap Beveiligingstechniek B.V.

E. Groeskamp (54)

Groenekanseweg 24A
3737 AG  Groenekan
Netherlands
Inventi B.V.

R. M. Wegman (49)

Industrieweg 20
7161 BX  Neede
Netherlands
Nsecure B.V.

J. van Driel (55)

Lübeck 1
2993 LK  Barendrecht
Netherlands
Nedap France S.A.S.

C. Paijens (56)

8-10 Chemin d’Andrésy

A. Sot (60)

95610 Eragny sur Oise
France
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Nedap Deutschland GmbH

I. A. C. van Balveren (48)

Otto-Hahn-Strasse 3
40670 Meerbusch
Germany

Nedap Great Britain Ltd.

E. Groeskamp (54)

Arlington Business Park
Theale, Reading
Berkshire
RG7 4SA
Great Britain

Nedap Iberia S.A.

A. Carmona Badillo (56)

Avenida de los Llanos 18
28430 Alpedrete Madrid
Spain

Nedap China Ltd.

E. Urff (48)

Room 2507, Longemont Yes Tower
No. 369 Kaixuan Road
200051 Shanghai
China  

Nedap Asia Ltd.

E. Urff (48)

Austin Plaza
15F, Units 3&4
No 83, Austin Road
Kowloon
Hong Kong

Nedap FZE

J. B. F. van der Willik MSc (32)

DSO Head Quarters, D-205
Dubai Silicon Oasis
Dubai
United Arab Emirates

Nedap Inc.

M. J. Bomers MSc (33)

401 Edgewater Place
Suite 560, Box 10
Wakefield, MA 01880, USA (As of 11 February 2016)
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Corporate
Governance
Nedap

shareholders’ equity of 15%-20% as financial
standards.

Nedap is characterised by a development-driven

The company’s dividend policy ensues from its

and entrepreneurship-based open culture of

financial policy, paying out all of its profits to

innovation and creativity.

shareholders, after deduction of the transfer to
reserves that is deemed necessary to keep solvency

Nedap develops and supplies smart technological

at the required level.

solutions for socially relevant themes, including

Given the innovative nature of Nedap as a whole

sufficient food, clean drinking water, sustainable

and the often project-oriented nature of its orders,

energy, security and healthcare.

we consider it desirable to maintain a solvency
ratio of about 45%, based on autonomous growth.

It concentrates on markets where its technological

Dividend payable is not included in shareholders’

know-how, market expertise and knowledge of the

equity.

customer’s business process can create added value
for the customer.

Long-term policy

These markets are approached through the

Nedap’s long-term policy is aimed at creating

company’s own sales channels as well as through

sustainable added value for customers, staff and

third parties.

shareholders. Nedap wants to achieve this through
autonomous growth in revenue and profits, with a

The company is organised into business units and

robust portfolio of activities and innovation, based

each unit develops and delivers solutions and

on the company’s expertise, playing a central role.

possesses knowledge in the fields of technology,

Its portfolio of activities not only opens up new

markets and the customer’s business processes.

growth opportunities for Nedap, but also makes the

Staff are challenged to display entrepreneurship,

company less dependent on economic trends within

take responsibility and develop their talents.

a single market. Innovation is the basis for delivering
added value to the customer, i.e. developing the

Technologies used for the various solutions are

customer’s perception of what the solution is worth

all closely interrelated. Nedap’s business units

in comparison with what competitors offer. Nedap

therefore draw on each other’s technological

consequently presents itself in a distinct manner

expertise, products, systems and market experience.

within the various markets.
The distinctive strength of the solutions offered by

Particular attention is devoted to creating distinctive

Nedap enables the company to occupy its own place

value in the products and systems to be sold, as well

on various markets and ensures that it need not

as the associated services. The professionalisation

compete exclusively on the basis of price.

and internationalisation of sales are also high

The added value per employee indicates the

priorities.

extent to which customers accept the distinctive
strength of Nedap’s solutions and thus reflects the

The main sales market is still Europe, but sales

organisation’s inventiveness and effectiveness.

outside Europe, in the United States and Asia for

Growth in added value (revenue minus materials)

instance, are developing.

and added value per employee are therefore key

To continue operating in a manner that makes

priorities.

Nedap strong, the company pursues an operating
profit of at least 10% of revenue and a return on
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Responsibilities

Entrepreneurial risks

A special attitude must be embedded throughout

Revenue and expenses

the entire organisation in order to sustain

Nedap’s entrepreneurial and project-based nature

the company’s unique character and policy.

means that its revenue varies annually. Due to

Diversification and innovation are delicate processes

the high added value (in percentage terms) of the

where premature actions are potentially just as

company’s revenue (revenue minus materials),

harmful as acting too late. For staff this means

fluctuations in revenue will generate more than

being receptive to new responsibilities and working

proportionate percentage variances in the result.

methods and feeling comfortable in a constant

New products and systems and the project-based

process of change. For the Board of Directors this

nature of the revenue, combined with relatively

means pursuing entrepreneurship, seeing new

short project lead and delivery times, make it

developments in the market and technology and

difficult to estimate future revenue.

making sure that innovation is achieved. For the
Supervisory Board this means encouraging the

Various internal and external factors can also have

Board of Directors in this innovation process and

both a negative and positive impact on revenue.

carrying out adequate supervision while giving the

Potential key factors in this respect are delays

Board of Directors sufficient scope for responsible

during technological and/or market development

entrepreneurship.

activities, start-up problems with new products,

The chosen policy requires excellent relations

fiercer competition in terms of price, exchange rates

among the Supervisory Board, the Board of Directors

(of the US dollar in particular), government decisions

and staff in order to ensure that new product ideas

and macroeconomic developments. However, Nedap

and marketing strategies can be discussed at an

has a broad product portfolio, having developed

early stage and that successes and setbacks are

products for a wide range of different markets,

promptly and frankly evaluated, without leading to

including retail, healthcare, energy, livestock

a blurring of responsibilities. A working relationship

farming, libraries, access control, water purification

has therefore been achieved at Nedap where the

and lighting. This broad portfolio makes Nedap less

various elements of governance are mutually

sensitive to economic developments on one market.

reinforcing.
The markets on which Nedap operates are set
Risk and risk management

to undergo radical change in the coming years

Risks are an integral part of entrepreneurship.

under the impact of increasing transparency and

The trick is to limit these risks as far as possible

convergence. The markets will be larger in scale,

without impeding the company’s entrepreneurial

more international in character and more fiercely

drive. The ‘control system’ at Nedap, described

competitive.

elsewhere in this report, forms the procedural basis

New online applications in particular are leading

for identifying risks as early as possible and taking

to improved transparency, which makes it easier

measures where necessary. Controlling in Groenlo

for customers to compare competing propositions

plays a leading role in this respect.

around the world. At the same time, the introduction
of new technologies means that existing products

The risks at Nedap can be broadly divided into risks

can abruptly become less relevant.

that are inherent to entrepreneurship and risks that
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arise from breaches of company or social standards

New developments can also be adopted at

and regulations, such as fraud.

lightning speed by markets all over the world.

Corporate Governance

Product flaws can therefore lead to greater losses

overnight, while the winners will be confronted with

for - and subsequent claims from - customers.

surging demand that will need to be effectively

Nedap exercises maximum diligence in ensuring

managed. In the coming years, therefore, Nedap

its products offer the highest level of quality and

must continue investing in the quality of its

safety, using standards and test and control systems

propositions and in the scalability of its organisation

that are based on legislation and regulations.

in order to respond adequately to the growing
demand for its products and services. Nedap’s solid

However, it is not only technical risks that are

financial policy also offers the company scope for

increasing. The much larger scale of projects, many

making the most sensible strategic decisions for its

of which are implemented at locations around the

long-term future.

world, is also giving rise to much greater project,
certification and legal risks. Managing these risks

Staff

will become increasingly important in the future and

Nedap’s competitive strength derives largely from

will consistently be taken on board as an integral

the talent, dedicated efforts and enterprising spirit

part of the development of new propositions.

of our staff. One of the largest risk factors for Nedap
therefore remains the struggle to attract and retain

Delays during the technical and/or market

the right people. Accordingly, a lot of attention is

development of new products can also lead to

devoted to the recruitment of new talent, the further

substantially higher costs. As external increases in

development of the talent that is already available

raw material and commodity costs cannot always

within the organisation and the better utilisation of

be incorporated into sales prices, margins can

talent.

come under pressure. Substantial amortisation on
existing inventories can soon become necessary

Financial highlights

if components become economically obsolete

To continue operating in a manner that makes

quickly, planned product launches do not take place

Nedap strong, the company pursues an operating

or product life cycles come to an end sooner than

profit of at least 10% of revenue and a return on

expected. Nedap’s Road to Excellence programme

shareholders’ equity of 15%-20% as financial

was partly designed to mitigate these risks.

standards. In view of Nedap’s innovative character
and the largely project-based nature of its work, a
solvency ratio of about 45%, based on autonomous

Risks arising from customer insolvency are reduced

growth, is considered desirable. Dividend payable is

wherever possible with credit insurance. Controlling

not included in shareholders’ equity. The operating

in Groenlo continuously monitors the currency

profit for 2015 amounted to 1.9%, the return on

markets and assesses to what extent currency risks

shareholders’ equity was 10.5% and the solvency

can and must be hedged in specific situations.

ratio stood at 40.0%.

Besides making many markets more fiercely

The risks associated with the use of financial

competitive, the aforementioned changes are also

instruments are described in the section on financial

spurring a radical realignment of market positions.

risk management in the financial statements.

The gap between winners and losers will also

For €40.7 of the €44.9 million, the financing

widen in this uncompromising struggle for new

agreement with the bank contains no covenants. No

market positions. The losers who fail to keep up

specific reports are submitted to the bank.

with developments can see their markets vanish
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The added value of revenue is largely created in

Iberia S.A., which undertakes activities in Spain and

the Netherlands. The income tax expense largely

Portugal, operates under Spanish management but

consists of Dutch income tax.

works closely together with the business units in
Groenlo.

Corporate culture
Nedap’s policy is targeted at autonomous growth,

Risks arising from breaches of company or social

which is subject to fewer risks than acquisition-

standards and regulations, such as fraud

driven growth.

Apart from social control, managers play an
important role in preventing fraud and other forms

The informal, enterprising corporate culture is one

of inappropriate behaviour at Nedap. They have

of the key mainstays of the success of the Nedap

to set an example, and being hands-on managers,

organisation, but it also heightens the risks inherent

theirs is a key role in raising awareness of what is

in doing business. Daily direct contacts of the

and what is not tolerated. In addition, Controlling

Board of Directors and the Controlling group with

in Groenlo continuously assesses and monitors

managers and employees in Groenlo limit these

the administrative organisations and internal

risks. It is important for employees to be aware of

control measures, devoting extensive attention

the risks and talk about them with each other. After

to the prevention of fraud. When auditing the

all, risk management starts with risk awareness. A

financial statements, the external auditors discuss

careful consideration of all risks must automatically

the internal control measures aimed at preventing

form part of information flows and decision-making.

and detecting fraud with various officers in the

Members of the Board of Directors and Supervisory

organisation and with the Supervisory Board.

Board as well as other managers should set an
example, as this will encourage others to follow the

Nedap ensures that its intellectual property is

same high standards. They must create a culture

protected wherever possible, e.g. with patents. This

where full justice is done to risk management. The

provides no guarantee, however, that third parties

actions and behaviour of Nedap and its employees

are prevented from infringing on its rights. Any

must be characterised by integrity at all times. This

such infringements can lead to substantial losses.

integrity is not based on all manner of formal rules,

In addition, Nedap takes measures to ensure that it

but on what anyone who adheres to standards of

does not infringe on the rights of third parties itself.

due care and diligence knows to be right or wrong.
There are also close contacts with group companies
in the Netherlands and abroad. Nearly all group
companies are controlled from the business units in
Groenlo. The board consists of current and former
Nedap N.V. employees. The Controlling group
in Groenlo also takes care of risk monitoring for
these companies. These groups companies use the
company’s central IT infrastructure.
The Dutch group company Nsecure B.V. in
Barendrecht and the 49.7% participation in Nedap
France S.A.S operate virtually independently. Nedap
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Social aspects of doing business

of products and components we purchase.
Environmental aspects have to do with the impact

Nedap’s culture

of the item or the production process on the

Corporate social responsibility, or sustainable

environment; social aspects include respect for

business, is a natural part of Nedap and is rooted

human rights and employment rights. We obey the

in our corporate culture. It is also part of our

law in the countries where we operate, support

business objective: to develop and supply smart

universal human rights and apply high health, safety

technological solutions to socially relevant themes,

and environmental standards.

including sufficient food, clean drinking water,
sustainable energy, security and healthcare.

As an international industrial business, we are

Sustainable business is therefore anchored in all our

responsible for protecting and monitoring the

business processes.

surroundings in which we operate. We aim to
minimise any adverse environmental effects of our

Every business decision involves weighing up the

activities and, of course, ‘prevention is better than

interests of the various stakeholders. For many

cure’. This aim applies to the whole production

years, the search for a balance between financial

process and the entire lifecycle of a product - from

results, social interests and the environment has

extraction of raw materials, through manufacturing

been embedded in our way of working as a matter

and use of the product to final disposal/reuse.

of course. Sustainable business is an ongoing
process, not an end in itself.

We focus on minimising the use of potentially
dangerous chemicals in our products. This means

Our long-term policy focuses on creating

that, where appropriate, we want to find ways to

sustainable added value for customers, employees,

reduce consumption or switch to materials with a

shareholders and society. We are convinced that

more favourable effect on the environment.

sustainable business leads to sustainable growth
and creates value.

As raw materials are growing scarcer, we consider
it important to try and make efficient use of those

Developing and supplying sustainable products,

materials as well as intermediate goods. As a result,

systems and services

our manufacturing processes result in as little waste

At Nedap, quality, safety and sustainability are

as possible. This not only reduces the adverse effect

not just empty words. Every Nedap employee

on the environment but also saves costs.

is aware that Nedap products must have these
characteristics. We therefore develop high-quality

We are focusing on further reducing the amount of

products, systems and services for our customers

packaging materials, reusing packaging, recycling

that improve their futures (and those of their

materials and using environmentally-friendly,

customers), and deliver them at a fair price.

sustainable packaging materials and lightweight
packaging.
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Sustainability is not just about manufacturing

The negative impact of power generation on our

sustainable products, but involves the search for

environment is reason for us to prioritise reduction

new, inventive production methods and the design

of electricity consumption.

of the related processes. Social responsibility in

This comes to the fore in things such as our

purchasing is also important. We therefore also

continuous efforts to make our products

consider the environmental and social aspects

substantially more energy efficient.

Both Nedap Groenlo and our Inventi B.V. subsidiary

calls for an environment and mentality that inspires

have fully switched to renewable power. Generation

people’s and teams’ entrepreneurial spirit and

of green power does not involve environmentally

new ideas. This means encouraging ‘Yes’ instead of

harmful fossil fuels and barely produces any

‘Yes but...’, and ‘Why not?’ instead of ‘Why?’. It is a

contaminating substances. We continue to look for

mentality that gets good ideas to the market faster

new techniques to reduce energy consumption,

and helps us keep people with bright ideas within

including low-energy lighting, presence sensors and

our company.

ultrasonic humidification.
Nedap does not have a hierarchical structure and
Healthy financial results

helps its people develop a broad, interested view of

A healthy financial situation is a precondition for

the world. We encourage them to ask questions. We

the company’s continuity. To ensure that Nedap

can often find a different, better way if we challenge

can continue doing business in a way that fosters

ourselves and our customers to look at things from

our strength, we pursue an operating profit of at

more than one perspective.

least 10% of revenue and a return on shareholders’
equity of 15%-20% as financial standards. Given

Nedap and society are inextricably linked; one

the innovative nature of Nedap as a whole and

influences the other. A number of important aspects

the often project-oriented nature of its orders, we

of this are mentioned below.

consider it desirable to maintain a solvency ratio
of about 45%, based on autonomous growth.

Human rights

In principle, the remainder is distributed to the

Nedap respects the rights set out in the Universal

shareholders.

Declaration of Human Rights, which states that
all parties in society, including companies, must

Decision-making takes into account the interests of

observe and secure human rights. Pursuant to the

all stakeholders and a responsible balance is sought,

OECD guideline, Nedap will investigate companies

and usually found, between financial results, social

with which it maintains direct business relations to

interests and the environment.

establish how they deal with human rights. A visit to
these companies is part of Nedap’s normal business
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Employees and social responsibility

procedure.

Employees and their expertise are critical success

Such investigations of human rights will be

factors for Nedap. Our company grows when

conducted in a way that matches Nedap’s size and

our people grow, so we set great store by their

the nature and context of its operations, as well as

professional and personal development. At Nedap,

the seriousness of the risks of adverse effects on

we do all we can to develop existing talent and to

human rights.

encourage new skills and professional progress. This

Whenever we detect abuse of human rights or

is one of the reasons why we are able to attract and

any other kind of irregularities as specified below,

retain top-quality talents for further development of

Nedap will take appropriate measures and, if

our activities.

necessary, even switch to another supplier.

Our employees deserve an attractive workplace,

Free enterprise

with safe and healthy working conditions. If we

We support free enterprise and fair competition.

want to stay competitive, it is crucial for us to come

We aim to meet the needs of our customers faster,

up with new ideas and new ways of thinking. This

better and more clearly than our competitors. We

Corporate Governance

compete fiercely but fairly.

on the Rights of the Child.

Privacy

Exploitation

We protect the confidentiality of identifiable

Exploitation of vulnerable individuals or groups will

personal information regarding customers,

not be tolerated under any circumstances.

employees, business contacts and other individuals.
Working conditions
Communications

Wages and benefits must fully meet local standards,

Unless confidentiality is required, we strive for open,

comply with local legislation and be in line with

fact-based and timely communications.

general principles of justice and fair treatment.

Integrity and responsibility

Relationships

Ethical and responsible conduct is important to our

We want to do business with companies that

business. If we do the right thing, people know we

subscribe to our ethical values and meet our social

are a company they can trust. Trust is the basis of

and environmental standards.

good interaction.
Integrity and honesty are essential in business
transactions: there is no room for bribery or
unethical practices, nor for conflicts of interest.
And yet, integrity and responsibility go further than
that. They are about doing things in the right way, as
a company and as individuals.
Treating everyone fairly
We will never discriminate on the basis of race,
ethnic background, age, religion, gender, sexual
orientation or disability.
We want our workforce to be a reflection of the
society in which we operate. All our employees can
expect fair and equal treatment from the company,
irrespective of their job or where they are located.
Child labour, forced labour and slavery
Child labour is defined as any kind of work that
stops children from going to school, harms
their physical and/or mental health, limits their
development, or robs them of their childhood or
self-respect. As a minimum, Nedap complies with
the regulations of the countries in which it operates.
Under no circumstances will Nedap use forced
labour, employ children in breach of Conventions
138 and 182 of the International Labour
Organisation or act in breach of the UN Convention
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The branding projects what Nedap stands for:

Nedap produces smart, technological solutions
to socially relevant issues. Feeding a growing
population, providing clean drinking water all over
the world and creating smart sustainable energy
networks are just some of the issues Nedap works
on. Nedap’s products and services all have one thing
in common: they always offer a solution to a socially
relevant problem.
Corporate social responsibility - one of the drivers
of innovation - is integral to Nedap’s strategy
which is determined by, and the responsibility of,
the Board of Directors. Given that corporate social
responsibility is a continuous process, and not an
objective in its own right, we have not formulated
specific result targets, let alone quantitative targets.

83

Corporate Governance

Governance

The shareholders and the works council are also
given an opportunity to recommend persons for

Nedap’s Supervisory Board and Board of Directors

appointment.

are confident that they comply with the ‘principles
of good corporate governance’ set out in the Dutch

The profile for the size and composition of the

Corporate Governance Code. The ‘best practice’

Supervisory Board is described in the ‘Supervisory

provisions are also largely complied with. The

Board profile’ section in the annual report and also

information required by the Code is provided in

on the company’s website. The membership of the

various places in this Annual Report.

Supervisory Board conforms with the profile.

Reading the ‘best practice’ provisions, it soon

The professional background of the members has

becomes apparent that they are aimed at large listed also been published. The members are independent
companies. This focus of the Code is understandable

of the company and of each other and none of them

given those companies’ individual social relevance.

hold more supervisory directorships at Dutch listed

However, smaller companies such as Nedap have

companies than specified in the Code.

a completely differently set-up from large listed

The Supervisory Board currently has four members.

companies. The management is more in touch with

In view of Nedap’s transparency and the limited

daily operations, and so lines of control are less

size of the Supervisory Board, there are no audit,

formal and more direct. Management tasks are also

remuneration or selection and appointment

less complex, often due to their nature and smaller

committees. Consequently, the full Supervisory

scope. This means that a less rigorous allocation of

Board has been designated to perform the duties

duties is required at smaller companies. Moreover,

of the audit and other committees. The chairman

the supervisory boards of smaller companies tend to

of the Supervisory Board monitors the quality and

be more involved in the company and consequently

frequency of the information flow on the company’s

have a better understanding of what is happening

financial performance, market position, product

at the company. This, too, obviously improves the

development and organisational progress. The

quality of supervision in general.

Supervisory Board as a whole assesses the financial

In cases where the detailed nature of the ‘best

and other information.

practice’ provisions is designed to address typical
governance issues at large listed companies, the

Remuneration agreements made with the Board

‘apply or explain’ rule does not provide enhanced

of Directors are set out below. The chairman and

insight into the application of the desired principles

a member of the Supervisory Board hold annual

of sound corporate governance and supervision at

appraisal interviews with the members of the Board

smaller companies. Nevertheless, departures from

of Directors on the basis of predefined targets.

the provisions will be disclosed and explained as

The variable income of the Board of Directors is

required.

determined by the performance of its members
with respect to those targets. The maximum variable
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Management and supervision

remuneration is 90% of the fixed annual income.

Since Nedap has a ‘two-tier’ board structure, its

Given the small size of the Supervisory Board, the

Supervisory Board members are appointed by

experience of its members and the need for flexible

the general meeting of shareholders following

working procedures, the Board has not drawn up any

nomination by the Board.

formal regulations.

The Board of Directors under the articles of

I

Fixed annual income

association has two members. The Supervisory

Fixed annual income that is revised each

Board members believe that appointing directors

year at least by a percentage equal to

for four-year terms would impede the proper

that of the salary increase provided for in

performance of their role within the company. The

Nedap’s collective labour agreement.

directors are entrusted with the task of mapping out
the company’s long-term strategy and translating

II

Variable annual income

that strategy into effective policy. Four-year

The variable annual income depends on

mandates are not sufficient to adequately fulfil

the members of the Board of Directors

this role at a company like Nedap. The annual

meeting targets set in advance by the

appraisal interviews also enable the Supervisory

Supervisory Board. One third of the

Board members to monitor the performance of

variable income is determined by financial

the directors more effectively than if they were

targets, one third by targets relating to the

reappointed once every four years.

development of the internal organisation
and one third by targets focusing on the

The members of the Board of Directors do not

way in which the organisation operates in

hold supervisory directorships with any other

its environment. 60% of the fixed annual

companies, nor do they hold any interests in other

income is paid for performance at target

companies that conflict with those of Nedap. Given

level, with a maximum of 90% of the fixed

Nedap’s size and market position, the Supervisory

annual income.

Board and the Board of Directors see no need
to draw up regulations concerning ownership of

Each director must contribute at least 50% of his

and transactions in securities by board members,

variable annual income after taxation to Stichting

other than securities issued by their own company.

Medewerkerparticipatie Nedap in exchange for

However, it has been agreed that the acquisition of

depositary receipts. This means that a significant

interests in another company that might give rise to

part of the variable income is dependent on the

a potential conflict of interests shall be avoided and,

company’s long-term performance.

in case of doubt, shall be discussed in advance. This
applies to members of both the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board may increase or decrease the

and the Board of Directors.

variable income if, in its opinion, the calculations
lead to an unreasonable outcome.

Remuneration policy for the Board of Directors
under the articles of association

If variable remuneration is granted on the basis

The aim of the remuneration policy is to have a

of incorrect information, the Supervisory Board is

compensation package for the Board of Directors

entitled to recover it from the director concerned.

that will help to attract and retain qualified and
expert directors, while also ensuring and advancing

The compensation package for the Board of

the medium and long-term interests of the company.

Directors has been set taking into account internal
pay relationships and market information.
The compensation package is reviewed regularly to
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The compensation package for the Board of

ensure that it is still competitive and in line with the

Directors comprises:

extent and complexity of the duties.
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The Board of Directors has the same defined

of Directors is only allowed to perform with the

contribution pension plan as Nedap N.V. staff, albeit

approval of the Supervisory Board.

that the defined contribution is 6/5 of the premium
for staff and that the minimum old-age pension

Each year, the Board of Directors provides

deductible is applied. Like staff members, board

the Supervisory Board with an outlook for

members are entitled to compensation for the

the coming years which, on the basis of the

employer’s contribution released as a result of the

knowledge available at the time, sets out the

statutory pensionable wages cap. The pensionable

company strategy and provides a breakdown of

salary is based on the fixed annual income.

figures for the coming year, as well as forecasting
expected developments for the foreseeable
future.

No agreements have been made with the members
of the Board of Directors regarding a period of

The Board of Directors also reports regularly (ten

notice.  

times per year) to the Supervisory Board on the
actual performance versus budget.

As of 1 January 2015, directors under the articles
of association appointed after this date are entitled
to contractual severance pay that does not exceed

The Supervisory Board meets at least five times

the compensation specified in provision II.2.8 of the

per year, and more often as necessary, to discuss

Dutch Corporate Governance Code.

these reports

A severance package was not agreed with directors
appointed before 1 January 2015.

II

The business unit managers set out their visions
each year in the budget. This includes, on the

No loans, advances or guarantees have been

basis of the objective, the plans relating to

granted to the directors.

the market, R&D efforts, staffing and capital
investments.

Control system
Nedap has an adequate and effective control system

The business unit managers also report regularly

which is designed to:

(ten times per year) to the Board of Directors on
the actual performance versus the budget.

–

test actual progress and performance against the
objectives;

In addition to this reporting system, a regular

enable management to retain control over

exchange of information takes place between

responsibilities delegated to others;

the Board of Directors and the business unit.

manage cash and other flows representing a

This is made easier by the fact that the Board

monetary value within the organisation;

of Directors and business unit managers are all

–

identify and restrict risks;

based in Groenlo.

–

prevent fraud.

–
–

The internal information and reporting flows are as

In addition, the Board of Directors and business

follows:

unit managers also consult prior to any final
decision-making on:

I

Article 20 of the Articles of Association of
Nedap N.V. specifies which actions the Board
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– significant market-related decisions;

– R&D projects;

and must be hedged.

– staff appointments;
– capital investments.

The potential risk arising from insolvent
customers is reduced by means of credit

Certain actions by the boards of subsidiaries

insurance.

are also subject to the approval of the Board
of Directors of Nedap. In addition, a budget

External reporting is on the basis of the

(including statement of profit or loss, balance

standards laid down by the International

sheet, investments and staffing) must be

Accounting Standards Board and accepted by the

submitted for the coming year. Regular

European Union.

reports are also submitted (ten times a year)
to the Board of Directors and business unit

IV The external auditor then acts as objective

management on the actual performance versus

assessor of this process for the parts relevant to the

budget.

audit of the financial statements.

III Internally, Controlling in Groenlo plays a leading

The Board of Directors states that the internal

role in analysing the strategy and the various

control system, as described above, provides a

plans and monitors the implementation of said

reasonable degree of assurance that the company’s

strategy and plans in terms of the targets set.

financial reporting is free of material errors or
an incorrect presentation of facts. The financial

This department ensures that the administrative

reports give a true and fair view of the company’s

organisation and data processing are sufficient

financial situation and results of its activities and

to ensure uniform and correct handling of all

the required notes. The control system has operated

financial and business matters.

satisfactorily during the year under review.

It has set up a uniform reporting system based
on guidelines (including explanatory notes) that

The management of subsidiaries and business units

is designed to supply the information required

and Controlling remained in intensive contact during

by the Board of Directors.

the year regarding transactions undertaken by the

The department also ensures the correct,

company and detailed oral and written reports

complete and timely delivery of these reports

on revenue, expenses and progress. The Board of

(ten times a year).

Directors and business units are based at the same
address, so information is shared daily.

On top of that, the department monitors risks,
controls value streams within the organisation

No significant changes were made to the control

and ensures compliance with statutory rules

system during the reporting period.

and agreements, reporting to management on

Changes may ensue from the risk management

these matters, where necessary. The department

project that was launched in 2015. The same ERP

also assesses the various administrative

system is used in almost the whole organisation and

organisations, devoting attention to the

this has been discussed with the Supervisory Board.

prevention of possible fraud.
Despite the existence of risk management systems,
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In addition, Controlling assesses in what

material errors, fraud and unlawful actions can still

situations and to what extent currency risks can

take place. The system therefore does not provide
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absolute assurance that targets will be achieved, but

member who is dismissed during his first

has been developed to obtain reasonable assurance

term of office, the board member will be

as to the effectiveness of controls implemented to

eligible for severance pay not exceeding

mitigate financial and operational risks in relation to

twice the annual salary.

organisational objectives.

As pointed out with respect to II.1.1,
members of Nedap’s Board of Directors are

External communications

appointed for an indefinite period and there

Nedap publishes an overview of the company’s

is therefore no such thing as a ‘first term

performance and progress at least five times a year.

of office’. In the unfortunate event that a

In addition to the Annual Report, there are

director’s performance proves unsatisfactory,

first-half and full-year financial reports,

the severance pay will be partly determined

supplemented with two interim reports in the spring

by the number of years of service at Nedap.

and autumn on relevant market developments, key

Directors appointed after 01/01/2015

events and transactions and their effects on Nedap’s

are subject to the severance pay cap, as

financial position, along with a general description

specified in this best practice provision.

of the financial position. These reports and much
more information can be found on the website www.
nedap.com.

II.2.13	The summary referred to in best practice
provision II.2.12 always contains the
following information:

Best practice provisions

	f) A description of the performance

Given the company’s innovative, project-driven

criteria on which the performance-related

and flexible style of entrepreneurship, Nedap has

component of variable remuneration is

opted to apply certain provisions of the Corporate

dependent, in so far as disclosure would

Governance Code in a different way. All such

not be undesirable due to the information

instances of non-standard application are explained

being of a competitively sensitive nature,

below in the same order as the Code:

and of the discretionary component of
variable remuneration that can be set by the

II.1.1	A management board member is appointed

Supervisory Board as it sees fit.

for a maximum period of four years and may

The compensation package for the Board

be reappointed for a term of not more than

of Directors comprises fixed and variable

four years at a time.

annual income.

Given the long-term nature of Nedap’s
policy, members of the company’s Board

	The variable annual income depends on the

of Directors are appointed for an indefinite

members of the Board of Directors meeting

period of time. A director’s length of tenure

targets set in advance by the Supervisory

depends on his performance which is

Board. One third of the variable income is

reviewed annually by the Supervisory Board.

determined by financial targets, one third
by targets relating to the development of

II.2.8	Severance pay amounts to a maximum
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the internal organisation and one third by

of one year’s salary (the “fixed” part of a

targets focusing on the way in which the

director’s remuneration). If the maximum

organisation operates in its environment. As

of one year’s salary would be manifestly

far as possible, the Supervisory Board will set

unreasonable for a management board

quantifiable objectives for these targets. No

further details of the targets can be given for

later than the notice convening the general

competitive reasons.

meeting where appointment of the director
will be proposed. These elements shall in

	g) A summary and account of the methods
that will be applied in order to determine
whether the performance criteria have been

any event include ... performance criteria to
be applied.
	At Nedap, members of the Board of Directors

fulfilled.

are appointed by the Supervisory Board after

As no further details of the targets are being

announcing the proposed decision to the

given, it is also difficult to give a summary

general meeting.

and account of the methods that will be

	The applicable performance criteria

applied in order to determine whether the

are not set out in greater detail than in

performance criteria have been fulfilled.

‘Remuneration policy for the Board of
Directors under the articles of association’.

	h) An ex-ante and ex-post account of
the relationship between the chosen

III.1.1	Regulations will be put together specifying

performance criteria and the strategic

the duties of the Supervisory Board and its

targets applied, and of the relationship

way of working. In these regulations, the

between remuneration and performance.

Supervisory Board will include a paragraph

As the selected targets cannot be set out

dealing with its relations with the Board

in greater detail than in f), an account of

of Directors, the general meeting and the

the relationship between these targets and

(central) works council. The regulations will

the strategic targets cannot be given if the

be posted on the company’s website.

targets would have to be disclosed for this.

In view of the nature of the company and the
company-specific working procedures of the

A significant proportion of the variable

Supervisory Board as set out in the Report of

income is dependent on Nedap’s long-

the Supervisory Board to the Shareholders,

term strategy and performance, since each

and also given the size of the board and

director must contribute at least 50% of

the desired flexibility, the Supervisory

their variable annual income after taxation to

Board considers it undesirable to lay down

Stichting Medewerkerparticipatie Nedap in

formal regulations for its dealings with the

exchange for depositary receipts.

Board of Directors, the general meeting of

These depositary receipts are locked up for a

shareholders and the works council.

period of four years.
With respect to the relationship between

III.3.3	After their appointment, all Supervisory

remuneration and performance ex ante

Board members follow an induction

and ex post, it is only possible to say that

programme, which, in any event, covers

60% of the fixed annual income is paid for

general financial, social and legal affairs,

performance at target level, with a maximum

financial reporting by the company, any

of 90% of the fixed annual income.

specific aspects that are unique to the
company and its business activities, and

II.2.14	The key elements of a director’s contract
with the company are published after the
contract has been signed, and in any case no
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the responsibilities of a Supervisory Board
member.
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	The Supervisory Board conducts an annual
review to identify any aspects with regard

and that the members receive proper
training.

to which its members require further
training or education during their period

III.6.5	….. The company also sets rules governing

of appointment. The company plays a

the ownership of and transactions in

facilitating role in this respect.

securities by directors and Supervisory

At Nedap, members of the Board of

Board members other than those issued by

Management are appointed by the

the company.

Supervisory Board after announcing the

It has been agreed that the acquisition of

proposed decision to the general meeting.

interests in other companies involving an

Nedap’s size and organisational set-up are

actual or potential conflict of interests must

such that no formal induction programme

be avoided and, in case of doubt, must be

is necessary. Newly appointed members

discussed in advance with the Supervisory

naturally receive an appropriate introduction,

Board.

including a visit to the head office in Groenlo,
the Netherlands.

IV.1 Principle
	..... Wherever possible, the company shall

III.3.5	A Supervisory Board member can sit on the

give shareholders the opportunity to vote

Supervisory Board for a maximum of three

remotely and to communicate with all other

four-year terms.

shareholders.

The Supervisory Board feels that the length

Nedap does not have an international

of its members’ tenure should be determined

shareholder base. Nedap feels that the

by the member’s quality and contribution,

interest its shareholders have in the

in combination with the specific knowledge

company and its culture is demonstrated

he or she brings to Nedap. The performance

by their personal attendance at the general

of the Supervisory Board and its members

meeting of shareholders and, if necessary,

is evaluated annually. The Articles of

their participation in the discussion. Personal

Association stipulate that a member’s tenure

attendance is particularly important when

must end when the member reaches the age

matters of substance are being discussed.

of 72.

Shareholders may vote by proxy, where
necessary.

III.4.1	The chairman of the Supervisory Board
ensures that:

IV.1.4	The company’s policy on dividends and

a) Supervisory Board members attend

additions to reserves (the level and purpose

the required induction and training

of the addition to reserves, the amount

programme.

of the dividend and the type of dividend)

As specified in III.3.3, Nedap does not have a

shall be dealt with and accounted for as

formal induction programme.

a separate agenda item at the general
meeting of shareholders.
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It goes without saying that the chairman

Nedap’s policy on dividends and additions

of the Supervisory Board ensures that

to reserves is directly determined by its

the competencies of the members of the

strategy and long-term policy and will be

Supervisory Board match the Board’s profile

discussed in that context.

The long-term policy is aimed at creating

V.3.1	The external auditor and audit committee

sustainable added value for customers, staff

will be involved in drawing up a work plan

and shareholders. The policy on dividends

for the internal auditor and will also be

and additions to reserves will be an item for

informed of the internal auditor’s findings.

discussion on the agenda.

In view of its size, Nedap does not have an
internal auditor (or an audit committee).

IV.1.5	The proposal to pay dividend will be

It goes without saying that the external

discussed at the general meeting as a

auditor performs the audit of the financial

separate agenda item.

statements with due attention to the

As pointed out with respect to IV.1.4, the

internal audit system and internal audit. The

dividend payment is directly determined by

external auditor attends the meeting of the

the strategy and the long-term policy. The

Supervisory Board at which the financial

dividend payment will be explicitly included

statements and annual report are discussed.

on the agenda as a separate item.
IV.3.9	….. and proposals for the appointment of
directors [...] shall be submitted separately

Chairman of

Board of

the Supervisory Board

Directors:

G. F. Kolff

R. M. Wegman

to the general meeting.
As pointed out with respect to II.2.14
directors are appointed by the Supervisory
Board in accordance with the articles of
association, after the proposed decision has
been announced to the general meeting.
Consequently, no formal proposal to
appoint directors is submitted to the general
meeting.
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Information on the company structure and control

Stichting Preferente Aandelen Nedap

pursuant to the Decree on article 10 of the

Since 1973, Nedap has been able to issue

Takeover Directive

preference shares as a protective measure.
This protection can be deployed if a third party

Capital structure

intends to gain control of the company by acquiring

Nedap’s authorised share capital consists of

a decisive interest or otherwise attempts to

15,600,000 ordinary shares and 15,600,00

adversely affect Nedap, without securing the

preference shares, all with a nominal value of €0.10

interests of Nedap, its business and all stakeholders

each.

in a satisfactory way.

The preference shares are registered, while the
ordinary shares are bearer shares. The issued share

Stichting Preferente Aandelen Nedap (Stichting)

capital currently amounts to €669,292, consisting of

was founded for this purpose in 1973. It looks

6,692,920 ordinary shares.

after the interests of Nedap, its business and all
stakeholders, providing defence wherever possible

The ordinary shares are listed on Euronext

against influences which could threaten continuity,

Amsterdam and are freely tradable. They are

independence and identity in conflict with said

embodied in a ‘global note’ that is held in custody

interests.

by Necigef on behalf of the shareholders.
Nedap has granted the Stichting the right to acquire
Stichting Medewerkerparticipatie Nedap

preference shares (call option) under which, on

Following the foundation of Stichting

request, the Stichting can acquire preference shares

Medewerkerparticipatie Nedap (subsequently

up to a maximum equal to the number of ordinary

referred to as “the Stichting”) in 2009, employees

shares in issue, less one, at the time the option is

have been able to acquire depositary receipts for

exercised.

shares in Nedap since 1 January 2010. This ability to

The call option obliges Nedap to issue the number

become a depositary receipt holder in the company

of preference shares requested by the Stichting

is in line with the entrepreneurship required of

whenever it makes that request. Consequently, no

employees. It also enables employees to be heard

further decision by any corporate body of Nedap is

through the Stichting at the general meeting of

required; the decision was made when the option

shareholders when fundamental decisions are being

was granted to the Stichting.

made about Nedap’s direction and future. Each year,
employees may decide to use all or part of their

If preference shares are issued, the Stichting has to

profit share for this.

pay at least 25% of their nominal value in cash.

The depositary receipts are locked up for a period
of four years. In addition to a purchase discount

The board of the Stichting is made up of the

of 10% on the depositary receipt price, one

following persons:

bonus depositary receipt is issued for every four
depositary receipts after four years, subject to

N. W. Hoek, chairman

certain conditions. The full dividend for each

J. Lock, secretary

depositary receipt is assigned to the depositary

A. P. M. van der Veer-Vergeer

receipt holder. At 31 December 2015, the Stichting

R. P. Voogd

held 96,714 shares in Nedap for which it had issued

Prof. Dr J. P. Bahlmann

depositary receipts to employees.
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The composition of the board is intended to ensure

their intention before a date set by Nedap’s Board

that the interests of all Nedap stakeholders are

of Directors - which shall not be earlier than the

looked after in the decision-making process to the

seventh day before the date of the general meeting

maximum degree.

of shareholders - through their bank or broker where
their shares are held in trust, and requesting proof

According to both the directors of this Stichting

of receipt, which serves as their entrance ticket to

and those of Nedap, Stichting Preferente Aandelen

the meeting.

is independent from Nedap, as specified in Article
5: 71, subsection 1 under c. of the Dutch Financial

Notification requirement regarding participations

Supervision Act (Wet op het Financieel Toezicht).

under the Dutch Disclosure of Major Holdings and
Capital Interests in Securities-Issuing Institutions

Preference shares take precedence over ordinary

Act (WMZ)

shares when it comes to dividend payment or pay-

The Netherlands Authority for the Financial

out of capital paid up on shares, the latter in the

Markets (AFM) published the information on

event of Nedap’s liquidation.

holdings reported in connection with control and
shareholdings given below.

Voting rights
Every share comes with the entitlement to one vote,

There are no material transactions between legal or

and there are no restrictions on voting rights.

natural persons who hold at least 10% of the shares
in Nedap as meant by provision III. 6.4 of the Dutch

Shareholders wishing to attend the general meeting

Corporate Governance Code.

of shareholders are required to notify Nedap of
February 2016

February 2015

in %

in %

Add Value Fund N.V.

3.36

3.36

ASR Nederland N.V.

8.20

8.20

15.11

15.11

5.19

5.19

Cross Options Beheer B.V.
Darlin N.V.
Decico B.V.

5.01

5.01

Delta Lloyd Deelnemingen Fonds N.V.

13.45

13.45

Delta Lloyd N.V.

12.60

12.60

Kempen Capital Management N.V.

6.34

6.34

TKH Group NV

5.06

5.06

(100.00)

(100.00)

74.32

74.32

(Stichting Preferente
Aandelen Nedap (potential)
Total
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Appointment and dismissal of directors

The Supervisory Board notifies the general meeting

Nedap is a two-tier board company, which means

of shareholders of the proposed appointment.

that directors are appointed by the Supervisory

The Supervisory Board will not dismiss a director

Board.

until the general meeting of shareholders has been

Corporate Governance

able to decide on the proposed dismissal.

appoints it as the body authorised to issue shares.
This appointment has not been made.

Appointment and dismissal of Supervisory Board

A resolution by the general meeting of shareholders

members

to issue shares or to appoint another body as the

Supervisory Board members are appointed by

body authorised to issue shares, or the withdrawal

the general meeting of shareholders following a

of a resolution to appoint can only be passed on

proposal by the Supervisory Board, generally for

a joint proposal of the Supervisory Board and the

a period of four years. This proposal is made on

Board of Directors.

the basis of a profile drawn up by the Supervisory

A resolution to issue preference shares by a body

Board. The general meeting of shareholders and

other than the general meeting of shareholders is

the works council may recommend people as

always subject to co-operation of the Supervisory

Supervisory Board members. The works council has

Board in each specific case.

an enhanced right of nomination for one member of

Preferential rights can be limited or excluded by the

the Supervisory Board.

body appointed to decide on share issues.

The general meeting of shareholders may reject a

Nedap may only acquire its own fully paid-up shares

nomination by an absolute majority of the votes cast

for no consideration. Acquisition other than for no

representing at least one third of the issued share

consideration is only possible if:

capital.

– shareholders’ equity –/– the acquisition price
is not less than the paid up and called up part

The Enterprise Section of the Amsterdam Court of

of the capital plus the reserves that must be

Appeal may, on application, dismiss a Supervisory

maintained by law or under the articles of

Board member for neglect of duty, other

association

compelling reasons or due to significant changes
in circumstances such that the company cannot
reasonably be expected to let the Supervisory Board
member remain in office. The application may be

– the nominal amount of the company’s own shares
is no more than 50% of the issued share capital;
and
– the general meeting of shareholders has

submitted by the company, represented by the

appropriately authorised the Board of Directors.

Supervisory Board, or a representative designated

This authorisation is not required to acquire the

by the general meeting of shareholders or the works

company’s own shares or depositary receipts in

council.

order to transfer them to employees under an

The general meeting of shareholders may pass

applicable plan.

a resolution of no confidence in the entire

94

Supervisory Board by an absolute majority of the

Amendment of the articles of association

votes cast representing at least one third of the

Nedap’s articles of association may be amended by

issued share capital.

a resolution of the general meeting of shareholders

Such a resolution brings about the immediate

after prior approval of such resolution by the

dismissal of the members of the Supervisory Board.

Supervisory Board and Board of Directors.

Authority of the Board of Directors to issue shares

Restrictive agreements with shareholders

and acquire the company’s own shares

To the best of Nedap’s knowledge, its shareholders

The Board of Directors is only authorised to issue

are not a party to an agreement that could lead to

shares if the general meeting of shareholders

restrictions on trading in Nedap shares or on voting

rights.
Significant agreements in the event of a take-over
bid
The standby roll-over credit agreement (€14 million)
that Nedap has entered into with the bank includes
a provision under which the bank can demand early
repayment of the loan if there is a significant change
in control over Nedap’s activities.
It is not unusual for other long-term alliances to
which Nedap is a party to also include the possibility
of terminating the agreement with immediate effect
in the event of a ‘change of control’. In relation to
the overall scope, these clauses are not regarded as
significant as defined in the Decree on Article 10 of
the Takeover Directive.

Nedap has not entered into agreements with
directors or other employees under which
personal rights to compensation can be derived
upon termination of their employment after the
settlement of a take-over bid for Nedap shares.
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Provisions of the Articles of Association
concerning special rights
Below are some of the special rights granted to the
Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors:
Art. 10:
Proposal to issue new shares.
Art. 11:
Proposal to restrict or exclude preferential rights.
Art. 18:
Determination of the number of members of the
Board of Directors.  
Below are some of the special rights granted to the
Supervisory Board:
Art. 23:
Proposal to set the remuneration policy for the
Board of Directors.
Determination of the remuneration and other terms
of employment for each member of the Board of
Directors.
Proposal to remunerate the Board of Directors in the
form of shares or rights to acquire shares.
Art. 24:
Determination of the number of members of the
Supervisory Board.
The Board must comprise at least three members.
Art. 25:
Nomination for appointment to the Supervisory
Board.
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Provisions of the Articles of Association

with explanatory notes;

concerning approval of resolutions by the

g. a proposal to amend the articles of association;

Board of Directors in accordance with Article 20

h. a proposal to terminate the company;
i.

Without prejudice to provisions elsewhere in the

filing for bankruptcy and suspension of
payments;

Paragraph 1:
j.

a resolution to terminate the employment

articles of association, the following resolutions

contracts of a substantial number of employees

by the Board of Directors shall be subject to the

of the company or a dependent company

approval of the Supervisory Board:

simultaneously or within a short period of time;

a. issue and acquisition of shares in and debt

k. a resolution to implement radical changes in

instruments payable by the company or of debt

the working conditions of a substantial number

instruments payable by a limited partnership or

of employees of the company or a dependent

a commercial partnership of which the company

company;

is a fully liable partner;

l.

of shares;

a proposal to effect a reduction in the issued
share capital;

b. cooperation in the issue of depositary receipts

m. a proposal to legally merge or divide the
company within the meaning of Part 7 of Book 2

c. application for the listing of the debt

of the Dutch Civil Code.

instruments or depositary receipts referred
to in a and b on a regulated market or in a
multilateral trading facility, as referred to in

Paragraph 2:

Article 1:1 of the Dutch Financial Supervision

The following resolutions by the Board of Directors

Act or in a system similar to a regulated market

are also subject to the approval of the Supervisory

or multilateral trading facility in a non-member

Board:

state or an application for the withdrawal of

a. setting the company’s operational and
financial targets, the strategy intended to lead

such listing;;

to achievement of those objectives and the

d. entry into or termination of a long-term

preconditions used in formulating this strategy;

partnership by the company or a dependent
company with another legal entity or company,

b. appointment of officials as specified in Article
19, paragraph 2 and determination of their

either as a fully liable partner in a limited

titles;

partnership or a commercial partnership,
provided this partnership or termination thereof

c. a resolution to engage in legal proceedings,
with the exception of taking precautionary

are of major importance to the company;

measures or measures which cannot be

e. acquisition of a participation with a value of

delayed;

at least a quarter of the amount of the issued
share capital plus the reserves as recognised on

d. acquisition, alienation, or encumbering of
property subject to registration;

the company’s balance sheet with explanatory

f.

notes, by the company or a dependent company

e. entering into a contract of suretyship;

in the capital of another company, as well as a

f.

credit agreement has been entered into, the

such a participation;

Supervisory Board’s approval is not required for

investments requiring an amount that equals at

usage of this facility;

least a quarter of the issued share capital plus
the company’s reserves as per its balance sheet
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taking out loans and credit agreements. If a

decision to significantly increase or decrease

g. a resolution to enter into a merger, or to acquire,
wind up or dispose of a participation;
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h. a resolution to found or close down a branch.
Paragraph 3:
The Supervisory Board may determine that a
resolution as referred to in paragraph 2 above will
not require its approval if the interest involved
does not exceed a value to be determined by the
Supervisory Board.
Paragraph 4:
The Board of Directors requires the approval of
the general meeting for decisions involving a
significant change in the identity or nature of the
company or its business undertakings, including:
a. transfer of the company, or almost all of it, to a
third party;
b. entering into or terminating a long-term
partnership by the company or a subsidiary
company with another legal entity or company,
either as a fully liable partner in a limited
commercial partnership, provided this
partnership or termination thereof are of major
importance to the company;
c. the acquisition or disposal by the company or
a subsidiary of a participation in the capital
of a company to the value of at least one
third of the assets according to the balance
sheet with notes or, if the company prepares
a consolidated balance sheet, according to
the consolidated balance sheet with notes, as
stated in the company’s most recently adopted
financial statements.
Paragraph 5:
The absence of the approval of the Supervisory
Board or the general meeting for a decision
as intended in this article does not impair the
representative authority of the Board of Directors
or its members, except in relation to a decision as
referred to in paragraph 1(l) and paragraph 2(a).

98

99

Credits
Graphic design
Studio Kluif
Production
Drukkerij Tesink
Translation
HHCE

Nedap N.V.

T +31(0)544 47 1111

P.O. Box 6

F +31(0)544 46 3475

NL-7140 AA Groenlo

www.nedap.com

This is a translation of the original Dutch report.
In the event of any conflict of interpretation,
the Dutch will prevail.

Corporate Governance

102

eighty
seventh

See you in the

103

financial year 2016

Annual
report
of of
thethe
Annual
report
N.V.N.V.
Nederlandsche
Nederlandsche
Apparatenfabriek
Apparatenfabriek
‘Nedap’on
it’sit’s
‘Nedap’on

ﬁnancial
year
2012
ﬁnancial
year
2012

